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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements made or incorporated by reference in this Quarterly Report are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act (Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and Section 21E of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended). Forward-looking statements are all statements, other than statements of historical fact, that may be made by Eastman Chemical Company
("Eastman" or the "Company") from time to time. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as "anticipates",
"believes", "estimates", "expects", "intends", "may", "plans", "projects", "forecasts", "will", "would", and similar expressions or expressions of the negative
of these terms. Forward-looking statements may relate to, among other things, such matters as planned and expected capacity increases and utilization;
anticipated capital spending; expected depreciation and amortization; environmental matters and opportunities (including potential risks associated with
physical impacts of climate change and related voluntary and regulatory carbon requirements); exposure to, and effects of hedging of, raw material and
energy prices and costs; foreign currencies and interest rates; disruption or interruption of operations and of raw material or energy supply; global and
regional economic, political, and business conditions; competition; growth opportunities; supply and demand, volume, price, cost, margin and sales;
pending and future legal proceedings; earnings, cash flow, dividends, stock repurchases and other expected financial results, events, decisions, and
conditions; expectations, strategies, and plans for individual assets and products, businesses, and operating segments, as well as for the whole of Eastman;
cash sources and requirements and uses of available cash; financing plans and activities; pension expenses and funding; credit ratings; anticipated and other
future restructuring, acquisition, divestiture, and consolidation activities; cost reduction and control efforts and targets; the timing and costs of, benefits
from the integration of, and expected business and financial performance of acquired businesses as well as the subsequent impairment assessments of
acquired long-lived assets; strategic, technology, and product innovation initiatives and development, production, commercialization and acceptance of new
products, services and technologies and related costs; asset, business, and product portfolio changes; and expected tax rates and interest costs.

Forward-looking statements are based upon certain underlying assumptions as of the date such statements were made. Such assumptions are based upon
internal estimates and other analyses of current market conditions and trends, management expectations, plans, and strategies, economic conditions, and
other factors. Forward-looking statements and the assumptions underlying them are necessarily subject to risks and uncertainties inherent in projecting
future conditions and results. Actual results could differ materially from expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements if one or more of the
underlying assumptions and expectations proves to be inaccurate or is unrealized. The most significant known factors, risks, and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements are identified and discussed under "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Risk Factors" in Part I, Item 2 of this Quarterly Report. Other factors, risks or uncertainties of
which management is not aware, or presently deems immaterial, could also cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking
statements.

The Company cautions you not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date such statements are made. Except as
may be required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update or alter these forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events, or otherwise. Investors are advised, however, to consult any further public Company disclosures (such as filings with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, Company press releases, or pre-noticed public investor presentations) on related subjects.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS,
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS

 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Sales $ 1,924  $ 2,363  $ 4,165  $ 4,743  
Cost of sales 1,553  1,774  3,217  3,580  

Gross profit 371  589  948  1,163  
Selling, general and administrative expenses 155  165  315  352  
Research and development expenses 52  57  113  115  
Asset impairments and restructuring charges, net 141  18  155  50  
Other components of post-employment (benefit) cost, net (30)  (21)  (60)  (42)  
Other (income) charges, net (1)  (1)  3  (3)  

Earnings before interest and taxes 54  371  422  691  
Net interest expense 55  55  107  111  

Earnings (loss) before income taxes (1)  316  315  580  
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (31)  57  25  112  

Net earnings 30  259  290  468  
Less: Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest 3  1  5  1  

Net earnings attributable to Eastman $ 27  $ 258  $ 285  $ 467  

Basic earnings per share attributable to Eastman $ 0.20  $ 1.87  $ 2.10  $ 3.37  

Diluted earnings per share attributable to Eastman $ 0.20  $ 1.85  $ 2.09  $ 3.34  

Comprehensive Income   
Net earnings including noncontrolling interest $ 30  $ 259  $ 290  $ 468  
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:   

Change in cumulative translation adjustment (14)  (13)  5  17  
Defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans:   

Amortization of unrecognized prior service credits (7)  (8)  (14)  (15)  
Derivatives and hedging:   

Unrealized gain (loss) during period (3)  (22)  4  (12)  
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses included in net income, net 12  2  10  —  

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (12)  (41)  5  (10)  

Comprehensive income including noncontrolling interest 18  218  295  458  
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest 3  1  5  1  

Comprehensive income attributable to Eastman $ 15  $ 217  $ 290  $ 457  

Retained Earnings     
Retained earnings at beginning of period $ 8,133  $ 7,675  $ 7,965  $ 7,573  
Cumulative effect adjustment resulting from adoption of new accounting standards —  —  —  (20)  
Net earnings attributable to Eastman 27  258  285  467  
Cash dividends declared (89)  (85)  (179)  (172)  

Retained earnings at end of period $ 8,071  $ 7,848  $ 8,071  $ 7,848  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.4
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UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
June 30, December 31,

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2020 2019
Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 704  $ 204  
Trade receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 904  980  
Miscellaneous receivables 422  395  
Inventories 1,419  1,662  
Other current assets 77  80  

Total current assets 3,526  3,321  
Properties

Properties and equipment at cost 13,175  12,904  
Less: Accumulated depreciation 7,697  7,333  

Net properties 5,478  5,571  

Goodwill 4,425  4,431  
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 1,817  2,011  
Other noncurrent assets 727  674  

Total assets $ 15,973  $ 16,008  

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities

Payables and other current liabilities $ 1,176  $ 1,618  
Borrowings due within one year 702  171  

Total current liabilities 1,878  1,789  

Long-term borrowings 5,431  5,611  
Deferred income tax liabilities 932  915  
Post-employment obligations 951  1,016  
Other long-term liabilities 683  645  

Total liabilities 9,875  9,976  
Stockholders' equity

Common stock ($0.01 par value – 350,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued – 220,129,408 and
219,638,646 for 2020 and 2019, respectively) 2  2  
Additional paid-in capital 2,117  2,105  
Retained earnings 8,071  7,965  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (209)  (214)  

9,981  9,858  
Less: Treasury stock at cost (84,830,450 shares for 2020 and 83,696,398 shares for 2019) 3,960  3,900  

Total Eastman stockholders' equity 6,021  5,958  
Noncontrolling interest 77  74  

Total equity 6,098  6,032  

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 15,973  $ 16,008  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019
Operating activities

Net earnings $ 290  $ 468  
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 280  311  
Asset impairment charges 145  —  
Provision for deferred income taxes 11  11  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions and divestitures:
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables 73  (80)  
(Increase) decrease in inventories 221  (148)  
Increase (decrease) in trade payables (343)  (88)  
Pension and other postretirement contributions (in excess of) less than expenses (83)  (65)  
Variable compensation (in excess of) less than expenses (30)  (45)  
Other items, net 43  53  

Net cash provided by operating activities 607  417  
Investing activities

Additions to properties and equipment (196)  (198)  
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired —  (19)  
Other items, net (5)  (2)  

Net cash used in investing activities (201)  (219)  
Financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in commercial paper and other borrowings 97  239  
Proceeds from borrowings 249  225  
Repayment of borrowings —  (275)  
Dividends paid to stockholders (179)  (173)  
Treasury stock purchases (60)  (250)  
Other items, net (13)  (3)  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 94  (237)  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents —  (1)  

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 500  (40)  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 204  226  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 704  $ 186  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared by Eastman Chemical Company ("Eastman" or the "Company") in
accordance and consistent with the accounting policies stated in the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K, and should be read in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of that report, with the exception of the items noted below. The December 31, 2019 financial
position data included herein was derived from the consolidated financial statements included in the 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K but does not
include all disclosures required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP").

In the opinion of management, the unaudited consolidated financial statements include all normal recurring adjustments necessary for fair statement of the
interim financial information in conformity with GAAP. These statements contain some amounts that are based upon management estimates and
judgments. Future actual results could differ from such current estimates. The unaudited consolidated financial statements include assets, liabilities, sales
revenue, and expenses of all majority-owned subsidiaries and joint ventures in which a controlling interest is maintained. Eastman accounts for other joint
ventures and investments where it exercises significant influence on the equity basis. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in
consolidation. Certain prior period data has been reclassified in the unaudited consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes to conform to
current period presentation.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-13 Financial Instruments - Credit Losses: On January 1, 2020, Eastman adopted this standard, and related
releases, under the various required transition methods. The amendments require a financial asset (including trade receivables) to be presented at the net
amount expected to be collected through the use of allowances for credit losses valuation account. The income statement will reflect the measurement of
credit losses for newly recognized financial assets, as well as the expected increases or decreases of expected credit losses that have taken place during the
period. The adoption of this standard did not result in a material impact on the Company's financial statements and related disclosures.

ASU 2018-13 Fair Value Measurement - Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement: On January 1,
2020, Eastman adopted this standard that is a part of the Financial Accounting Standards Board's ("FASB") disclosure framework project to improve the
effectiveness of disclosures in the notes to financial statements. The primary changes applicable to Eastman in this update are the disclosures of fair value
levels, assessment thereof, and transfers between those levels. The adoption under the various required transition methods did not impact the Company's
related disclosures.

ASU 2018-18 Collaborative Arrangements - Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 (Collaborative Arrangements) and Topic 606 (Revenue from
Contracts with Customers): On January 1, 2020, Eastman adopted this standard, retrospectively to the date of the initial application of Topic 606 on
January 1, 2017, that provides clarification in regards to which contracts are accounted for under Topic 808 and Topic 606 as well as alignment of guidance
between the two pronouncements. The adoption of this standard did not impact the Company's financial statements and related disclosures.

ASU 2019-01 Leases - Codification Improvements: On January 1, 2020, Eastman adopted this standard which was applied as of the adoption date and under
the same transition methodology of ASU 2016-02 Lease previously adopted on January 1, 2019. The FASB issued this update in response to stakeholder
inquiries regarding the new leasing standard. The adoption of this standard did not impact the Company's financial statements and related disclosures.

ASU 2020-04 Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848) - Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting: Eastman adopted this
standard when issued and effective on March 12, 2020. The FASB issued this update to provide optional guidance for a limited period of time to ease the
potential burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects of) reference rate reform (the global financial markets transition in contracts, hedging
relationships, and other transactions away from referencing the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) and other interbank offered rates and toward new
reference rates) on financial reporting. As reference reform has not impacted Eastman as of the issuance and effective date, the adoption of this standard did
not impact the Company's financial statements and related disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Accounting Standards Issued But Not Adopted as of June 30, 2020

ASU 2018-14 Retirement Benefits - Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans: In August 2018, the FASB
issued this update as a part of its disclosure framework project to improve the effectiveness of disclosures in the notes to financial statements. The primary
change impacting Eastman is the addition of disclosures related to significant gains and losses related to changes in the benefit obligation for the period and
weighted-average interest crediting rates for cash balance plans. This standard is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2020 and early
adoption is permitted. Upon adoption, this update is to be applied on a retrospective basis to all periods presented. Management does not expect that
changes required by the new standard will materially impact the Company's related disclosures.

ASU 2019-12 Income Taxes - Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes: In December 2019, the FASB issued this update as part of its initiative to
reduce complexity in accounting standards which removes certain exceptions and provides simplification to specific tax items. This standard is effective for
fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in any
interim period for which financial statements have not yet been issued. Adoption methods vary based on the specific items impacted. Management is
currently evaluating the impact on the Company's financial statements and related disclosures.

ASU 2020-01 Investments - Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments - Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic
815) - Clarifying the Interactions between Topic 321, Topic 323, and Topic 815: In January 2020, the FASB issued a clarification that an entity should
consider observable transactions that require the application or discontinuance of the equity method of accounting for the purposes of applying the
measurement alternative and clarification that certain forward contracts and purchased options to purchase securities that, upon settlement, would be
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. This standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods
within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in any interim period for which financial statements have not yet been issued. The
update is to be applied prospectively. Management does not expect that changes required by the new standard will materially impact the Company's
financial statements and related disclosures.

Working Capital Management and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since 2019, the Company has been expanding its off balance sheet, uncommitted accounts receivable factoring program under which entire invoices may
be sold, without recourse, to third-party financial institutions. Under these agreements, the Company sells the invoices at face value, less a transaction fee,
which substantially equals the carrying value and fair value with no gain or loss recognized and no credit loss exposure is retained. Available capacity
under these agreements, which the Company uses as a source of working capital funding, is dependent on the level of accounts receivable eligible to be
sold and the financial institutions' willingness to purchase such receivables. In addition, certain agreements also require that the Company continue to
service, administer, and collect the sold accounts receivable at market rates. The total amounts sold in second quarter 2020 and 2019 were $411 million and
$169 million, respectively, and $868 million and $270 million in first six months 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Company works with suppliers to optimize payment terms and conditions on accounts payable to enhance timing of working capital and cash flows.
As part of these efforts, in 2019 the Company introduced a voluntary supply chain finance program to provide suppliers with the opportunity to sell
receivables due from Eastman to a participating financial institution. Eastman's responsibility is limited to making payments on the terms originally
negotiated with suppliers, regardless of whether the suppliers sell their receivables to the financial institution. The range of payment terms Eastman
negotiates with suppliers are consistent, regardless of whether a supplier participates in the program. All of Eastman's accounts payable and associated
payments are reported consistently in the Company's Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and Unaudited Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows regardless of whether they are associated with a vendor who participates in the program.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. INVENTORIES

 June 30, December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019

Finished goods $ 949  $ 1,114  
Work in process 193  220  
Raw materials and supplies 514  576  

Total inventories at FIFO or average cost 1,656  1,910  
Less: LIFO reserve 237  248  

Total inventories $ 1,419  $ 1,662  

Inventories valued on the last-in, first-out ("LIFO") method were approximately 50 percent of total inventories at both June 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019.

3. PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

 June 30, December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019

Trade creditors $ 525  $ 890  
Accrued payroll and variable compensation 141  176  
Accrued taxes 94  89  
Post-employment obligations 85  93  
Dividends payable to shareholders 89  90  
Other 242  280  

Total payables and other current liabilities $ 1,176  $ 1,618  

"Other" consists primarily of accruals for interest payable, the current portion of operating lease liabilities, the current portion of derivative hedging
liabilities, the current portion of environmental liabilities, and miscellaneous accruals.

4. INCOME TAXES
 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019

$ % $ % $ % $ %

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes and tax rate $ (31)  —  $ 57  18 % $ 25  8 % $ 112  19 %

Second quarter and first six months 2020 effective tax rates included a $19 million decrease to the provision for income taxes as a result of a decrease in
unrecognized tax positions and a $7 million decrease to the provision for income taxes related to estimated adjustments to certain prior year tax returns.
Second quarter and first six months 2019 effective tax rates included adjustments to the tax provision to reflect planned amendments to and expected
finalization of a prior year's income tax return in a foreign jurisdiction.

At June 30, 2020, Eastman had $192 million in unrecognized tax benefits. At June 30, 2020, it is reasonably possible that, as a result of the resolution of
federal, state, and foreign examinations and appeals, and the expiration of various statutes of limitation, the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits
could decrease by $10 million to $20 million within the next 12 months.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. BORROWINGS

 June 30, December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019
Borrowings consisted of:

4.5% notes due January 2021 $ 185  $ 185  
3.5% notes due December 2021 298  298  
3.6% notes due August 2022 742  741  

1.50% notes due May 2023 (1) 839  840  
7 1/4% debentures due January 2024 198  198  
7 5/8% debentures due June 2024 43  43  
3.8% notes due March 2025 701  695  

1.875% notes due November 2026 (1) 555  556  
7.60% debentures due February 2027 195  195  
4.5% notes due December 2028 493  493  
4.8% notes due September 2042 493  493  
4.65% notes due October 2044 874  874  
Commercial paper and short-term borrowings 517  171  

Total borrowings 6,133  5,782  
Borrowings due within one year 702  171  

Long-term borrowings $ 5,431  $ 5,611  

(1) The carrying value of the euro-denominated 1.50% notes due May 2023 and 1.875% notes due November 2026 will fluctuate with changes in the euro exchange
rate. The carrying value of these euro-denominated borrowings have been designated as non-derivative net investment hedges of a portion of the Company's net
investments in euro functional-currency denominated subsidiaries to offset foreign currency fluctuations.

Loan Agreement, Credit Facility, and Commercial Paper Borrowings

In April 2020, the Company borrowed $250 million under a new 364-Day Term Loan Credit Agreement (the "Term Loan") as a precautionary measure due
to increased financial market volatility, particularly in the availability and terms of commercial paper, resulting from the COVID-19 coronavirus global
pandemic ("COVID-19"). Borrowings under the Term Loan are subject to interest at varying spreads above quoted market rates. At June 30, 2020, the
Company's borrowings under the Term Loan were $249 million with a weighted average interest rate of 2.75 percent.

The Company has access to a $1.50 billion revolving credit agreement (the "Credit Facility") expiring October 2023. Borrowings under the Credit Facility
are subject to interest at varying spreads above quoted market rates and a commitment fee is paid on the total unused commitment. The Credit Facility
provides available liquidity for general corporate purposes and supports commercial paper borrowings. Commercial paper borrowings are classified as
short-term. In first quarter 2020, the Company borrowed a total of $400 million under the Credit Facility. In second quarter 2020, the Company repaid a
total of $400 million using available cash. At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the Credit
Facility. At June 30, 2020, the Company's commercial paper borrowings were $268 million with a weighted average interest rate of 0.53 percent. At
December 31, 2019, the Company's commercial paper borrowings were $170 million with a weighted average interest rate of 2.03 percent.

The Credit Facility and Term Loan contain customary covenants, including requirements to maintain certain financial ratios, that determine the events of
default, amounts available, and terms of borrowings. In April 2020, the Company amended the Credit Facility and the Term Loan maximum debt covenants
to reflect the higher cash balance to enhance liquidity due to, and the expected negative impact on operating results of, COVID-19 and added a new
restrictive covenant prohibiting stock repurchases until June 30, 2021 in the event certain financial ratios are exceeded. The Company was in compliance
with all applicable covenants at both June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
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NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company did not renew the $250 million accounts receivable securitization agreement (the "A/R Facility") which expired April 2020. Eastman
Chemical Financial Corporation ("ECFC"), a subsidiary of the Company, had an agreement to sell interests in trade receivables under the A/R Facility to a
third party purchaser. Third party creditors of ECFC had first priority claims on the assets of ECFC before those assets would be available to satisfy the
Company's general obligations. Borrowings under the A/R Facility were subject to interest rates based on a spread over the lender's borrowing costs, and
ECFC paid a fee to maintain availability of the A/R Facility. In first quarter 2020, the Company borrowed a total of $350 million, in two tranches, under the
A/R Facility and repaid a total of $350 million using available cash. At December 31, 2019, the Company had no borrowings outstanding under the A/R
Facility.

Fair Value of Borrowings

Eastman has classified its total borrowings at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 under the fair value hierarchy as defined in the accounting policies in
Note 1, "Significant Accounting Policies", to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-
K. The fair value for fixed-rate debt securities is based on quoted market prices for the same or similar debt instruments and is classified as Level 2. The
fair value for the Company's other borrowings, primarily under the Term Loan, Credit Facility, and commercial paper, equals the carrying value and is
classified as Level 2. At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the fair value of total borrowings was $6.720 billion and $6.275 billion, respectively. The
Company had no borrowings classified as Level 3 as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

6. DERIVATIVE AND NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Overview of Hedging Programs

Eastman is exposed to market risks, such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, and interest rates. To mitigate these market
risks and their effects on the cash flows of the underlying transactions and investments in foreign subsidiaries, the Company uses various derivative and
non-derivative financial instruments, when appropriate, in accordance with the Company's hedging strategy and policies. Designation is performed on a
specific exposure basis to support hedge accounting. The Company does not enter into derivative transactions for speculative purposes.

For further information on hedging programs, see Note 9, "Derivative and Non-Derivative Financial Instruments", to the consolidated financial statements
in Part II, Item 8 of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Cash Flow Hedges

Cash flow hedges are derivative instruments designated as and used to hedge the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows that are attributable
to a particular risk. The derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge are reported on the balance sheet at fair value and the
changes in fair value of these hedging instruments are offset in part or in whole by corresponding changes in the anticipated cash flows of the underlying
exposures being hedged. The change in the hedge instrument is reported as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCI")
located in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and reclassified in earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged
transaction affects earnings. Cash flows from cash flow hedges are classified as operating activities in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows.

In first quarter 2020 and second quarter 2020, Eastman entered into forward-starting interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $25 million and
$25 million, respectively, to mitigate the risk of variability in interest rates for an expected long-term debt issuance by August 2022. These swaps were
designated as cash flow hedges and will be settled upon debt issuance. The total outstanding forward starting swaps as of June 30, 2020 was $50 million.
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Fair Value Hedges

Fair value hedges are defined as derivative or non-derivative instruments designated as and used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of an
asset or a liability or an identified portion thereof that is attributable to a particular risk. The derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair
value hedges are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value and the changes in fair value of these hedging instruments are offset in part or in whole by
corresponding changes in the anticipated fair value of the underlying exposures being hedged. The net of the change in the hedge instrument and item being
hedged for qualifying fair value hedges is recognized in earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Cash
flows from fair value hedges are classified as operating activities in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Net Investment Hedges

Net investment hedges are defined as derivative or non-derivative instruments designated as and used to hedge the foreign currency exposure of the net
investments in certain foreign operations. The net of the change in the hedge instrument and item being hedged for qualifying net investment hedges is
reported as a component of the "Cumulative Translation Adjustment" ("CTA") within AOCI located in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position. Cash flows from the CTA component are classified as operating activities in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Recognition
in earnings of amounts previously recognized in CTA is limited to circumstances such as complete or substantially complete liquidation of the net
investment in the hedged foreign operation. In the event of a complete or substantially complete liquidation of the net investment, cash flows from net
investment hedges are classified as investing activities in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

For derivative cross-currency interest rate swap net investment hedges, gains and losses representing hedge components excluded from the assessment of
effectiveness are recognized in CTA within AOCI and recognized in earnings through the periodic swap interest accruals. The cross-currency interest rate
swaps designated as net investment hedges are included as part of "Other long-term liabilities", "Other noncurrent assets", "Payables and other current
liabilities", or "Other current assets" within the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. Cash flows from excluded components are
classified as operating activities in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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Summary of Financial Position and Financial Performance of Hedging Instruments

The following table presents the notional amounts outstanding at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 associated with Eastman's hedging programs.
Notional Outstanding June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Foreign Exchange Forward and Option Contracts (in millions)

EUR/USD (in EUR) €582 €630
Commodity Forward and Collar Contracts

Feedstock (in million barrels) 1  1  
Energy (in million british thermal units) 22  27  

Interest rate swaps for the future issuance of debt (in millions) $50 —  

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges:
Fixed-for-floating interest rate swaps (in millions) $75 $75

Derivatives designated as net investment hedges:
Cross-currency interest rate swaps (in millions)

EUR/USD (in EUR) €851 €851

Non-derivatives designated as net investment hedges:
Foreign Currency Net Investment Hedges (in millions)

EUR/USD (in EUR) €1,243 €1,243

Fair Value Measurements

All the Company's derivative assets and liabilities are currently classified as Level 2. Level 2 fair value is based on estimates using standard pricing
models. These standard pricing models use inputs that are derived from or corroborated by observable market data such as interest rate yield curves and
currency spot and forward rates. The fair value of commodity contracts is derived using forward curves supplied by an industry recognized and unrelated
third party. In addition, on an ongoing basis, the Company tests a subset of its valuations against valuations received from transaction counterparties to
validate the accuracy of its standard pricing models. The Company had no derivatives classified as Level 3 as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
Counterparties to these derivative contracts are highly rated financial institutions which the Company believes carry minimal risk of nonperformance, and
the Company diversifies its positions among such counterparties to reduce its exposure to counterparty risk and credit losses. The Company monitors the
creditworthiness of its counterparties on an ongoing basis. The Company did not recognize a credit loss during second quarter and first six months 2020 or
2019.

All the Company's derivative contracts are subject to master netting arrangements, or similar agreements, which provide for the option to settle contracts on
a net basis when they settle on the same day and in the same currency. In addition, these arrangements provide for a net settlement of all contracts with a
given counterparty in the event that the arrangement is terminated due to the occurrence of default or a termination event. The Company does not have any
cash collateral due under such agreements.
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The Company has elected to present derivative contracts on a gross basis within the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The
following table presents the financial assets and liabilities valued on a recurring and gross basis and includes where the financial assets and liabilities are
located within the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

The Financial Position and Fair Value Measurements of Hedging Instruments on a Gross Basis

(Dollars in millions)  

Derivative Type
Statements of Financial
Position Classification

June 30, 2020
Level 2

December 31, 2019
Level 2

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:    
Commodity contracts Other current assets $ 1  $ —  
Foreign exchange contracts Other current assets 10  13  
Foreign exchange contracts Other noncurrent assets 6  2  

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges:
Fixed-for-floating interest rate swap Other current assets 1  1  
Fixed-for-floating interest rate swap Other noncurrent assets 4  —  

Derivatives designated as net investment hedges:
Cross-currency interest rate swaps Other current assets 13  —  
Cross-currency interest rate swaps Other noncurrent assets 91  68  

Total Derivative Assets $ 126  $ 84  

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Commodity contracts Payables and other current liabilities $ 12  $ 26  
Commodity contracts Other long-term liabilities 1  2  
Foreign exchange contracts Payables and other current liabilities 1  1  
Foreign exchange contracts Other long-term liabilities 1  2  
Forward starting interest rate swap contracts Other long-term liabilities 1  —  

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges:
Fixed-for-floating interest rate swap Long-term borrowings —  1  

Total Derivative Liabilities $ 16  $ 32  

Total Net Derivative Assets (Liabilities)  $ 110  $ 52  

In addition to the fair value associated with derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, fair value hedges, and net investment hedges noted in
the table above, the Company had non-derivative instruments designated as foreign currency net investment hedges with a carrying value of $1.4 billion at
both June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The designated foreign currency-denominated borrowings are included as part of "Long-term borrowings"
within the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

For additional fair value measurement information, see Note 1, "Significant Accounting Policies", and Note 9, "Derivative and Non-Derivative Financial
Instruments", to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the following amounts were included on the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position related
to cumulative basis adjustments for fair value hedges.

(Dollars in millions)

Carrying amount of the hedged
liabilities

Cumulative amount of fair value
hedging loss adjustment included in
the carrying amount of the hedged

liability

Line item in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position in which the hedged item is included June 30, 2020

December 31,
2019 June 30, 2020

December 31,
2019

Long-term borrowings (1) $ 771  $ 763  $ (1)  $ (7)  
(1) At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the cumulative amount of fair value hedging loss adjustment remaining for hedged liabilities for which hedge

accounting has been discontinued was $6 million and $7 million, respectively.

The following table presents the effect of the Company's hedging instruments on "Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax" ("OCI") and financial
performance for second quarter and first six months 2020 and 2019.

Change in amount of after tax gain (loss)
recognized in OCI on derivatives

Pre-tax amount of gain (loss) reclassified
from OCI into earnings

(Dollars in millions) Second Quarter First Six Months Second Quarter First Six Months

Hedging Relationships 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships:
Commodity contracts $ 19  $ (13)  $ 10  $ (6)  $ (20)  $ (8)  $ (21)  $ (11)  
Foreign exchange contracts (12)  (7)  1  (6)  6  7  12  13  
Forward starting interest rate and treasury lock swap contracts 2  1  3  2  (3)  (1)  (5)  (2)  

Non-derivatives in net investment hedging relationships (pre-tax):
Net investment hedges (30)  (18)  3  8  —  —  —  —  

Derivatives in net investment hedging relationships (pre-tax):
Cross-currency interest rate swaps (19)  (13)  (1)  6  —  —  —  —  
Cross-currency interest rate swaps excluded component (3)  7  38  13  —  —  —  —  
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The following table presents the effect of fair value and cash flow hedge accounting on the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Earnings,
Comprehensive Income and Retained Earnings for second quarter 2020 and 2019.
Location and Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Earnings on Fair Value and Cash Flow Hedging Relationships

Second Quarter

2020 2019

(Dollars in millions) Sales
Cost of
Sales

Net Interest
Expense Sales

Cost of
Sales

Net Interest
Expense

Total amounts of income and expense line items presented in the
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive
Income and Retained Earnings in which the effects of fair value or
cash flow hedges are recognized $ 1,924  $ 1,553  $ 55  $ 2,363  $ 1,774  $ 55  

The effects of fair value and cash flow hedging:
Gain or (loss) on fair value hedging relationships:
Interest contracts (fixed-for-floating interest rate swaps):

Hedged items 1  —  
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments (1)  —  

Gain or (loss) on cash flow hedging relationships:
Interest contracts (forward starting interest rate and treasury lock
swap contracts):

Amount reclassified from AOCI into earnings (3)  (1)  
Commodity Contracts:

Amount reclassified from AOCI into earnings (20)  (8)  
Foreign Exchange Contracts:

Amount reclassified from AOCI into earnings 6  7  
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The following table presents the effect of fair value and cash flow hedge accounting on the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Earnings,
Comprehensive Income and Retained Earnings for first six months 2020 and 2019.

Location and Amount of Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Earnings on Fair Value and Cash Flow Hedging Relationships
First Six Months

2020 2019

(Dollars in millions) Sales
Cost of
Sales

Net Interest
Expense Sales

Cost of
Sales

Net Interest
Expense

Total amounts of income and expense line items presented in the
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive
Income and Retained Earnings in which the effects of fair value or
cash flow hedges are recognized $ 4,165  $ 3,217  $ 107  $ 4,743  $ 3,580  $ 111  

The effects of fair value and cash flow hedging:
Gain or (loss) on fair value hedging relationships:
Interest contracts (fixed-for-floating interest rate swaps):

Hedged items 1  —  
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments (1)  —  

Gain or (loss) on cash flow hedging relationships:
Interest contracts (forward starting interest rate and treasury lock
swap contracts):

Amount reclassified from AOCI into earnings (5)  (2)  
Commodity Contracts:

Amount reclassified from AOCI into earnings (21)  (11)  
Foreign Exchange Contracts:

Amount reclassified from AOCI into earnings 12  13  

The Company enters into foreign exchange derivatives denominated in multiple currencies which are transacted and settled in the same quarter. These
derivatives are not designated as hedges due to the short-term nature and the gains or losses on these derivatives are marked-to-market in line item "Other
(income) charges, net" of the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive Income and Retained Earnings. As a result of these
derivatives, the Company recognized a net gain of $1 million and a net loss of $1 million during second quarter 2020 and 2019, respectively, and
recognized a net gain of $8 million and a net loss of $4 million during first six months 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Pre-tax monetized positions and mark-to-market gains and losses from raw materials and energy, currency, and certain interest rate hedges that were
included in AOCI included net gains of $8 million and net losses of $50 million at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Gains recognized
between June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 primarily resulted from a decrease in foreign currency exchange rates associated with the euro. If
recognized, approximately $15 million in pre-tax losses, as of June 30, 2020, would be reclassified into earnings during the next 12 months.

7. RETIREMENT PLANS

Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

Eastman maintains defined benefit pension plans that provide eligible employees with retirement benefits. In addition, Eastman provides life insurance for
eligible retirees hired prior to January 1, 2007. The Company provides a subsidy for pre-Medicare health care and dental benefits to eligible retirees hired
prior to January 1, 2007 that will end on December 31, 2021. Company funding is also provided for eligible Medicare retirees hired prior to January 1,
2007 with a health reimbursement arrangement. Costs recognized for these benefits are estimated amounts, which may change as actual costs for the year
are determined.

For additional information regarding retirement plans, see Note 10, "Retirement Plans", to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of the
Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Components of net periodic benefit (credit) cost were as follows:
Second Quarter

 Pension Plans
Other Postretirement

Benefit Plans

2020 2019 2020 2019

(Dollars in millions) U.S. Non-U.S. U.S. Non-U.S.

Service cost $ 6  $ 4  $ 7  $ 4  $ —  $ —  
Interest cost 14  3  19  5  4  7  
Expected return on assets (33)  (8)  (33)  (8)  (1)  (1)  
Amortization of:

Prior service credit, net —  —  —  —  (9)  (10)  

Net periodic benefit (credit) cost $ (13)  $ (1)  $ (7)  $ 1  $ (6)  $ (4)  

First Six Months

Pension Plans
Other Postretirement

Benefit Plans

2020 2019 2020 2019

(Dollars in millions) U.S. Non-U.S. U.S. Non-U.S.

Service cost $ 13  $ 8  $ 14  $ 7  $ —  $ —  
Interest cost 28  7  38  10  9  13  
Expected return on assets (67)  (16)  (65)  (16)  (2)  (2)  
Amortization of:

Prior service credit, net —  —  —  —  (19)  (20)  

Net periodic benefit (credit) cost $ (26)  $ (1)  $ (13)  $ 1  $ (12)  $ (9)  

8. LEASES AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

Leases

There are two types of leases: finance and operating. Both types of leases have associated right-to-use assets and lease liabilities that are valued at the
present value of the lease payments and recognized on the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The discount rate used in the
measurement of a right-to-use asset and lease liability is the rate implicit in the lease whenever that rate is readily determinable. If the rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable, the collateralized incremental borrowing rate is used. The Company elected the accounting policy not to apply the
recognition and measurement requirements to short-term leases with a term of 12 months or less and do not include a bargain purchase option.

The Company has operating leases, as a lessee, with customary terms that do not include: significant variable lease payments; significant reasonably certain
extensions or options required to be included in the lease term; restrictions; or other covenants for real property, rolling stock, and machinery and
equipment. Real property leases primarily consist of office space and rolling stock leases primarily for railcars and fleet vehicles. At June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, operating right-to-use assets of $180 million and $197 million, respectively, are included as a part of "Other noncurrent assets" in the
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and includes $8 million at both periods of assets previously classified as lease intangibles.
Operating lease liabilities are included as a part of "Payables and other current liabilities" and "Other long-term liabilities" in the Unaudited Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position.

19



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of June 30, 2020, reconciliation of lease payments and operating lease liabilities is provided below:

(Dollars in millions) Operating lease liabilities
Remainder of 2020 $ 33  
2021 55  
2022 41  
2023 27  
2024 15  
2025 and beyond 32  
Total lease payments 203  

Less: amounts of lease payments representing interest 20  
Present value of future lease payments 183  

Less: current obligations under leases 29  

Long-term lease obligations $ 154  

The Company has operating leases, primarily leases for railcars, with terms that require the Company to guarantee a portion of the residual value of the
leased assets upon termination of the lease that will expire beginning in first quarter 2021. Residual guarantee payments that become probable and
estimable are recognized as rent expense over the remaining life of the applicable lease. Management's current expectation is that the likelihood of material
residual guarantee payments is remote.

Lease costs during the period and other information is provided below:
Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Lease costs:

Operating lease costs $ 18  $ 17  $ 37  $ 32  
Short-term lease costs 10  9  19  20  
Sublease income (1)  (1)  (2)  (1)  

Total $ 27  $ 25  $ 54  $ 51  

Other operating lease information:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities $ 18  $ 18  $ 36  $ 35  
Right-to-use assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities $ 14  $ 10  $ 30  $ 21  

Weighted-average remaining lease term, in years 5 6
Weighted-average discount rate 3.9 % 4.2 %
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Debt and Other Commitments

Eastman's obligations are summarized in the following table.

(Dollars in millions) Payments Due for

Period Debt Securities

Credit
Facilities and

Other
Interest
Payable

Purchase
Obligations

Operating
Leases

Other
Liabilities Total

Remainder of 2020 $ —  $ 517  $ 97  $ 95  $ 33  $ 127  $ 869  
2021 483  —  187  153  55  70  948  
2022 742  —  175  101  41  80  1,139  
2023 839  —  155  90  27  85  1,196  
2024 241  —  136  94  15  98  584  
2025 and beyond 3,311  —  1,414  1,958  32  1,112  7,827  

Total $ 5,616  $ 517  $ 2,164  $ 2,491  $ 203  $ 1,572  $ 12,563  

Estimated future payments of debt securities assumes the repayment of principal upon stated maturity, and actual amounts and the timing of such payments
may differ materially due to repayment or other changes in the terms of such debt prior to maturity.

The Company had various purchase obligations at June 30, 2020, totaling approximately $2.5 billion over a period of approximately 30 years for materials,
supplies, and energy incident to the ordinary conduct of business.

Amounts in other liabilities represent the current estimated cash payments required to be made by the Company primarily for pension and other
postretirement benefits, environmental loss contingency reserves, accrued compensation benefits, uncertain tax liabilities, and commodity and foreign
exchange hedging in the periods indicated. Due to uncertainties in the timing of the effective settlement of tax positions with respect to taxing authorities,
management is unable to determine the timing of payments related to uncertain tax liabilities and these amounts are included in the "2025 and beyond" line
item.

The amount and timing of pension and other postretirement benefit payments included in other liabilities is dependent upon interest rates, health care cost
trends, actual returns on plan assets, retirement and attrition rates of employees, continuation or modification of the benefit plans, and other factors. Such
factors can significantly impact the amount and timing of any future contributions by the Company. Excess contributions are periodically made by
management in order to keep the plans' funded status above 80 percent under the funding provisions of the Pension Protection Act to avoid partial benefit
restrictions on accelerated forms of payment. The Company's U.S. defined benefit pension plans are not currently under any benefit restrictions. See Note
7, "Retirement Plans".

The resolution of uncertainties related to environmental matters included in other liabilities may have a material adverse effect on the Company's
consolidated results of operations in the period recognized, however, because of the availability of legal defenses, the Company's preliminary assessment of
actions that may be required, and, if applicable, the expected sharing of costs, management does not believe that the Company's liability for these
environmental matters, individually or in the aggregate, will be material to the Company's consolidated financial position, results or operations, or cash
flows. See Note 1, "Significant Accounting Policies", to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the Company's accounting policy for environmental costs and see Note 9, "Environmental Matters and Asset Retirement Obligations".
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Guarantees and claims also arise during the ordinary course of business from relationships with customers, suppliers, joint venture partners, and other
parties when the Company undertakes an obligation to guarantee the performance of others if specified triggering events occur. Non-performance under a
contract could trigger an obligation of the Company. The Company's current other guarantees include guarantees relating to intellectual property,
environmental matters, and other indemnifications and have arisen through the normal course of business. The ultimate effect on future financial results is
not subject to reasonable estimation because considerable uncertainty exists as to the final outcome of these claims, if they were to occur. These other
guarantees have terms up to 30 years with maximum potential future payments of approximately $35 million in the aggregate, with none of these
guarantees being individually significant to the Company's operating results, financial position, or liquidity. Management's current expectation is that future
payment or performance related to non-performance under other guarantees is remote.

9. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS AND ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

Certain Eastman manufacturing facilities generate hazardous and nonhazardous wastes, the treatment, storage, transportation, and disposal of which are
regulated by various governmental agencies. In connection with the cleanup of various hazardous waste sites, the Company, along with many other entities,
has been designated a potentially responsible party ("PRP") by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act, which potentially subjects PRPs to joint and several liability for certain cleanup costs. In addition, the
Company will incur costs for environmental remediation and closure and post-closure under the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.
Reserves for environmental contingencies have been established in accordance with Eastman's policies described in Note 1, "Significant Accounting
Policies", to the consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K. The resolution of uncertainties
related to environmental matters included in other liabilities may have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated results of operations in the
period recognized, however, because of the availability of legal defenses, the Company's preliminary assessment of actions that may be required, and, if
applicable, the expected sharing of costs, management does not believe that the Company's liability for these environmental matters, individually or in the
aggregate, will be material to the Company's consolidated financial position, results or operations, or cash flows. The Company's total reserve for
environmental loss contingencies was $287 million at both June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

Environmental Remediation and Environmental Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company's total environmental reserve that management believes to be probable and reasonably estimable for environmental contingencies, including
remediation costs and asset retirement obligations, is included as part of "Payables and other current liabilities" and "Other long-term liabilities" in the
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as follows:

(Dollars in millions) June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Environmental contingent liabilities, current $ 15  $ 20  
Environmental contingent liabilities, long-term 272  267  

Total $ 287  $ 287  

Environmental Remediation

Estimated future environmental expenditures for undiscounted remediation costs ranged from the best estimate or minimum of $259 million to the
maximum of $493 million at June 30, 2020 and from the best estimate or minimum of $260 million to the maximum of $487 million at December 31,
2019. The best estimate or minimum estimated future environmental expenditures are considered to be probable and reasonably estimable and include the
amounts recognized at both June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
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Reserves for environmental remediation include liabilities expected to be paid within approximately 30 years. The amounts charged to pre-tax earnings for
environmental remediation and related charges are included within "Cost of sales" in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive
Income and Retained Earnings. Changes in the reserves for environmental remediation liabilities during first six months 2020 and full year 2019 are
summarized below:

(Dollars in millions)

Environmental Remediation
Liabilities

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 271  
Changes in estimates recognized in earnings and other 4  
Cash reductions (15)  
Balance at December 31, 2019 260  
Changes in estimates recognized in earnings and other 6  
Cash reductions (7)  

Balance at June 30, 2020 $ 259  

Environmental Asset Retirement Obligations

An asset retirement obligation is an obligation for the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset that is incurred upon the acquisition, construction,
development, or normal operation of that long-lived asset. The Company recognizes asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred if
a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The asset retirement obligations are discounted to expected present value and subsequently adjusted for
changes in fair value. The associated estimated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying value of the long-lived assets and depreciated
over their useful life. Environmental asset retirement obligations consist primarily of closure and post-closure costs. For sites that have environmental asset
retirement obligations, the best estimate recognized to date for these environmental asset retirement obligation costs was $28 million and $27 million at
June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. 

Non-Environmental Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company has contractual asset retirement obligations not associated with environmental liabilities. Eastman's non-environmental asset retirement
obligations are primarily associated with the future closure of leased manufacturing assets at Pace, Florida and Oulu, Finland. These recognized non-
environmental asset retirement obligations were $49 million and $48 million at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, and is included as part
of "Other long-term liabilities" in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

10. LEGAL MATTERS

From time to time, Eastman and its operations are parties to, or targets of, lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings, including product liability,
personal injury, asbestos, patent and intellectual property, commercial, contract, environmental, antitrust, health and safety, and employment matters, which
are handled and defended in the ordinary course of business. While the Company is unable to predict the outcome of these matters, it does not believe,
based upon currently available facts, that the ultimate resolution of any such pending matters will have a material adverse effect on its overall financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

23



Table of Contents

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Reconciliations of the changes in stockholders' equity for second quarter 2020 and 2019 are provided below:

(Dollars in millions, except per share amount)

Common
Stock at Par

Value

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury
Stock at

Cost

Total Eastman
Stockholders'

Equity
Noncontrolling

Interest Total Equity
Balance at March 31, 2020 $ 2  $ 2,109  $ 8,133  $ (197)  $ (3,930)  $ 6,117  $ 75  $ 6,192  
Net Earnings —  —  27  —  —  27  3  30  
Cash Dividends Declared (1)

($0.66 per share) —  —  (89)  —  —  (89)  —  (89)  
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) —  —  —  (12)  —  (12)  —  (12)  
Share Based Compensation Expense (2) —  5  —  —  —  5  —  5  
Stock Option Exercises —  3  —  —  —  3  —  3  
Other —  —  —  —  —  —  2  2  
Share Repurchase —  —  —  —  (30)  (30)  —  (30)  
Distributions to noncontrolling interest —  —  —  —  —  —  (3)  (3)  

Balance at June 30, 2020 $ 2  $ 2,117  $ 8,071  $ (209)  $ (3,960)  $ 6,021  $ 77  $ 6,098  

(Dollars in millions, except per share amount)

Common
Stock at Par

Value

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury
Stock at

Cost

Total Eastman
Stockholders'

Equity
Noncontrolling

Interest Total Equity
Balance at March 31, 2019 $ 2  $ 2,060  $ 7,675  $ (194)  $ (3,700)  $ 5,843  $ 76  $ 5,919  
Net Earnings —  —  258  —  —  258  1  259  
Cash Dividends Declared (1)

($0.62 per share) —  —  (85)  —  —  (85)  —  (85)  
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) —  —  —  (41)  —  (41)  —  (41)  
Share Based Compensation Expense (2) —  15  —  —  —  15  —  15  
Stock Option Exercises —  4  —  —  —  4  —  4  
Share Repurchase —  —  —  —  (125)  (125)  —  (125)  

Balance at June 30, 2019 $ 2  $ 2,079  $ 7,848  $ (235)  $ (3,825)  $ 5,869  $ 77  $ 5,946  

(1) Cash dividends declared consists of cash dividends paid and dividends declared but unpaid.
(2) Share-based compensation expense is the fair value of share-based awards.
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Reconciliations of the changes in stockholders' equity for first six months 2020 and 2019 are provided below:

(Dollars in millions, except per share amount)

Common
Stock at Par

Value

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury
Stock at

Cost

Total Eastman
Stockholders'

Equity
Noncontrolling

Interest Total Equity
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 2  $ 2,105  $ 7,965  $ (214)  $ (3,900)  $ 5,958  $ 74  $ 6,032  
Net Earnings —  —  285  —  —  285  5  290  
Cash Dividends Declared (1)

($1.32 per share) —  —  (179)  —  —  (179)  —  (179)  
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) —  —  —  5  —  5  —  5  
Share-Based Compensation Expense (2) —  20  —  —  —  20  —  20  
Stock Option Exercises —  3  —  —  —  3  —  3  
Other (3) —  (11)  —  —  —  (11)  1  (10)  
Share Repurchases —  —  —  —  (60)  (60)  —  (60)  
Distributions to Noncontrolling Interest —  —  —  —  —  —  (3)  (3)  

Balance at June 30, 2020 $ 2  $ 2,117  $ 8,071  $ (209)  $ (3,960)  $ 6,021  $ 77  $ 6,098  

(Dollars in millions, except per share amount)

Common
Stock at Par

Value

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury
Stock at

Cost

Total Eastman
Stockholders'

Equity
Noncontrolling

Interest Total Equity
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 2  $ 2,048  $ 7,573  $ (245)  $ (3,575)  $ 5,803  $ 75  $ 5,878  
Cumulative Effect of Adoption of New
Accounting Standards (4) —  —  (20)  20  —  —  —  —  
Net Earnings —  —  467  —  —  467  1  468  
Cash Dividends Declared (1)

($1.24 per share) —  —  (172)  —  —  (172)  —  (172)  
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) —  —  —  (10)  —  (10)  —  (10)  
Share-Based Compensation Expense (2) —  33  —  —  —  33  —  33  
Stock Option Exercises —  8  —  —  —  8  —  8  
Other (3) —  (10)  —  —  —  (10)  1  (9)  
Share Repurchases —  —  —  —  (250)  (250)  —  (250)  

Balance at June 30, 2019 $ 2  $ 2,079  $ 7,848  $ (235)  $ (3,825)  $ 5,869  $ 77  $ 5,946  

(1) Cash dividends declared consists of cash dividends paid and dividends declared but unpaid.
(2) Share-based compensation expense is the fair value of share-based awards.
(3) Additional paid-in capital consists of value of shares withheld for employees' taxes on vesting of share-based compensation awards.
(4) On January 1, 2019, Eastman adopted ASU 2018-02 Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income resulting in the reclassification of $20 million of

stranded tax expense from AOCI to retained earnings.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax

 
 
 
 
(Dollars in millions)

Cumulative
Translation
Adjustment

Benefit Plans
Unrecognized Prior

Service Credits

Unrealized Gains
(Losses) on
Derivative

Instruments
Unrealized Losses

on Investments

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ (309)  $ 106  $ (41)  $ (1)  $ (245)  
Period change (1) 45  —  (14)  —  31  

Balance at December 31, 2019 (264)  106  (55)  (1)  (214)  
Period change 5  (14)  14  —  5  
Balance at June 30, 2020 $ (259)  $ 92  $ (41)  $ (1)  $ (209)  

(1) Benefit plans unrecognized prior service credits includes $29 million reclassification of stranded tax expense from AOCI to retained earnings and unrealized gains
(losses) on derivative instruments includes $9 million reclassification of stranded tax benefit from AOCI to retained earnings.

Amounts of other comprehensive income (loss) are presented net of applicable taxes. Eastman recognizes deferred income taxes on the CTA related to
branch operations and income from other entities included in the Company's consolidated U.S. tax return. No deferred income taxes are recognized on the
CTA of other subsidiaries outside the United States, because the CTA is considered to be a component of indefinitely invested, unremitted earnings of these
foreign subsidiaries.

Components of other comprehensive income recognized in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive Income and Retained
Earnings are presented below, before tax and net of tax effects:

Second Quarter

2020 2019

(Dollars in millions) Before Tax Net of Tax Before Tax Net of Tax
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Change in cumulative translation adjustment $ (14)  $ (14)  $ (13)  $ (13)  
Defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans:
Amortization of unrecognized prior service credits (9)  (7)  (10)  (8)  

Derivatives and hedging:
Unrealized gain (loss) during period (5)  (3)  (29)  (22)  
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses included in net income, net 17  12  2  2  

Total other comprehensive income (loss) $ (11)  $ (12)  $ (50)  $ (41)  

First Six Months

2020 2019

(Dollars in millions) Before Tax Net of Tax Before Tax Net of Tax
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Change in cumulative translation adjustment $ 5  $ 5  $ 17  $ 17  
Defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans:
Amortization of unrecognized prior service credits (19)  (14)  (20)  (15)  

Derivatives and hedging:
Unrealized gain (loss) during period 5  4  (16)  (12)  
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses included in net income, net 14  10  —  —  

Total other comprehensive income (loss) $ 5  $ 5  $ (19)  $ (10)  
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12. EARNINGS AND DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS") which are calculated using the treasury stock method:
 Second Quarter First Six Months

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Numerator

Earnings attributable to Eastman, net of tax $ 27  $ 258  $ 285  $ 467  

Denominator
Weighted average shares used for basic EPS 135.3 137.8 135.6 138.4

Dilutive effect of stock options and other awards 0.8 1.3 0.8 1.3

Weighted average shares used for diluted EPS 136.1 139.1 136.4 139.7

(Calculated using whole dollars and shares)

EPS
Basic $ 0.20  $ 1.87  $ 2.10  $ 3.37  
Diluted $ 0.20  $ 1.85  $ 2.09  $ 3.34  

Shares underlying stock options excluded from second quarter 2020 and 2019 calculations of diluted EPS were 3,735,978 and 2,242,478, respectively,
because the grant date exercise price of these options was greater than the average market price of the Company's common stock and the effect of including
them in the calculation of diluted EPS would have been antidilutive. Second quarter 2020 and 2019 reflects share repurchases of 623,751 and 1,667,710,
respectively.

Shares underlying stock options excluded from first six months 2020 and 2019 calculations of diluted EPS were 3,920,216 and 2,242,478, respectively,
because the grant date exercise price of these options was greater than the average market price of the Company's common stock and the effect of including
them in the calculation of diluted EPS would have been antidilutive. First six months 2020 and 2019 reflects share repurchases of 1,134,052 and 3,249,786,
respectively.

The Company declared cash dividends of $0.66 and $0.62 per share for second quarter 2020 and 2019, respectively, and $1.32 and $1.24 per share for first
six months 2020 and 2019, respectively.

13. ASSET IMPAIRMENTS AND RESTRUCTURING CHARGES, NET

 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Fixed asset impairments $ 13  $ —  $ 20  $ —  
Intangible asset impairments 123  —  125  —  
Severance charges 2  16  7  44  
Other restructuring costs 3  2  3  6  

Total $ 141  $ 18  $ 155  $ 50  

In second quarter and first six months 2020 the Company recognized intangible asset impairments of $123 million in the Additives & Functional Products
("AFP") segment tire additives business to reduce the carrying value of the Crystex™ and Santoflex™ tradenames to the estimated fair value. The estimated
fair value was determined using an income approach, specifically, the relief from royalty method, including some unobservable inputs. The impairments are
primarily the result of weakened demand in transportation markets impacted by COVID-19 and increased competitive pricing pressure as a result of global
capacity increases. The Company also recognized a fixed asset impairment of $5 million in the AFP segment due to the closure of a tire additives
manufacturing facility in Asia Pacific as part of ongoing site optimization. Additionally, the Company recognized $8 million of asset impairments and
$3 million in contract termination fees resulting from management's decision to discontinue growth initiatives for polyester based microfibers, including
Avra™ performance fibers, the financial results of
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which were not allocated to an operating segment and reported in "Other".

In second quarter and first six months 2020, in the Chemical Intermediates segment, the Company recognized severance charges of $2 million and
$3 million, respectively, related to the previously disclosed plan to discontinue production of certain products at the Singapore manufacturing site by the
end of 2020.

Additionally, first six months 2020 asset impairments and restructuring charges included fixed asset impairment charges of $4 million and severance
charges of $3 million in the Advanced Materials segment resulting from the closure of a performance films manufacturing facility in North America and
fixed asset impairment charges of $3 million and severance charges of $1 million in the AFP segment for a manufacturing facility in Asia Pacific, each part
of ongoing site optimization actions. The Company also recognized an intangible asset impairment charge of $2 million in the AFP segment for customer
relationships.

Second quarter and first six months 2019 restructuring charges included $18 million and $46 million, respectively, for severance and related costs as part of
business improvement and cost reduction initiatives. First six months 2019 also included an additional $4 million restructuring charge related to a capital
project in the AFP segment that was discontinued in 2016.

Changes in Reserves

The following table summarizes the changes in asset impairments and restructuring charges, the non-cash reductions attributable to asset impairments, and
the cash reductions in restructuring reserves for severance costs and site closure costs paid in first six months 2020 and full year 2019:

(Dollars in millions)

Balance at
January 1, 2020

Provision/
Adjustments

Non-cash
Reductions/
Additions Cash Reductions

Balance at June
30, 2020

Non-cash charges $ —  $ 145  $ (145)  $ —  $ —  
Severance costs 17  7  —  (9)  15  
Other restructuring costs 11  3  —  (1)  13  

Total $ 28  $ 155  $ (145)  $ (10)  $ 28  

(Dollars in millions)

Balance at
January 1, 2019

Provision/
Adjustments

Non-cash
Reductions/
Additions Cash Reductions

Balance at
December 31, 2019

Non-cash charges $ —  $ 72  $ (72)  $ —  $ —  
Severance costs 6  45  —  (34)  17  
Other restructuring costs 8  9  1  (7)  11  

Total $ 14  $ 126  $ (71)  $ (41)  $ 28  

Substantially all severance costs remaining are expected to be applied to the reserves within one year.

14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION AWARDS

The Company utilizes share-based awards under employee and non-employee director compensation programs. These share-based awards have included
restricted and unrestricted stock, restricted stock units, stock options, and performance shares. In second quarter 2020 and 2019, $5 million and $15
million, respectively, of compensation expense before tax were recognized in "Selling, general and administrative expenses" in the Unaudited Consolidated
Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive Income and Retained Earnings for all share-based awards. The impact on second quarter 2020 and 2019 net
earnings of $4 million and $11 million, respectively, is net of deferred tax expense related to share-based award compensation for each period.

In first six months 2020 and 2019, $20 million and $33 million, respectively, of compensation expense before tax were recognized in "Selling, general and
administrative expenses" in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive Income and Retained Earnings for all share-based awards.
The impact on first six months 2020 and 2019 net earnings of $15 million and $25 million, respectively, is net of deferred tax expense related to share-
based award compensation for each period.
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For additional information regarding share-based compensation plans and awards, see Note 17, "Share-Based Compensation Plans and Awards", to the
consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

15. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Included in the line item "Other items, net" of the "Operating activities" section of the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows are the following
changes to Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position:

(Dollars in millions) First Six Months

 2020 2019

Other current assets $ 11  $ (12)  
Other noncurrent assets 9  6  
Payables and other current liabilities (7)  62  
Long-term liabilities and equity 30  (3)  

Total $ 43  $ 53  

The above changes resulted primarily from accrued taxes, deferred taxes, environmental liabilities, monetized positions from raw material and energy,
currency, and certain interest rate hedges, prepaid insurance, miscellaneous deferrals, value-added taxes, and other miscellaneous receivables and accruals.

16. SEGMENT AND REGIONAL SALES INFORMATION

Eastman's products and operations are managed and reported in four operating segments: Additives & Functional Products ("AFP"), Advanced Materials
("AM"), Chemical Intermediates ("CI"), and Fibers. The economic factors that impact the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows vary between the Company's business operating segments and the geographical regions in which they serve. For disaggregation of revenue by major
product lines and regions for each business operating segment, see Note 19, "Segment and Regional Sales Information", to the consolidated financial
statements in Part II, Item 8 of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K. For additional financial information for each segment, see Part I, Item 1,
"Business - Business Segments", in the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(Dollars in millions) Second Quarter First Six Months

Sales by Segment 2020 2019 2020 2019

Additives & Functional Products $ 685  $ 823  $ 1,507  $ 1,678  
Advanced Materials 567  696  1,182  1,353  
Chemical Intermediates 461  631  1,053  1,286  
Fibers 211  213  423  426  

Total Sales $ 1,924  $ 2,363  $ 4,165  $ 4,743  
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(Dollars in millions) Second Quarter First Six Months

Earnings (Loss) Before Interest and Taxes by Segment 2020 2019 2020 2019

Additives & Functional Products $ (56)  $ 147  $ 87  $ 293  
Advanced Materials 64  145  164  247  
Chemical Intermediates 20  63  100  136  
Fibers 46  51  99  93  

Total Earnings Before Interest and Taxes by Operating Segment 74  406  450  769  
Other   

Growth initiatives and businesses not allocated to operating
segments (28)  (25)  (51)  (52)  
Pension and other postretirement benefits income (expense),
net not allocated to operating segments 20  11  41  23  
Asset impairments and restructuring charges, net (11)  (18)  (11)  (46)  
Other income (charges), net not allocated to operating
segments (1)  (3)  (7)  (3)  

Total Earnings Before Interest and Taxes $ 54  $ 371  $ 422  $ 691  

(Dollars in millions) June 30, December 31,

Assets by Segment (1) 2020 2019

Additives & Functional Products $ 6,077  $ 6,387  
Advanced Materials 4,304  4,415  
Chemical Intermediates 2,615  2,775  
Fibers 994  1,014  

Total Assets by Operating Segment 13,990  14,591  
Corporate Assets 1,983  1,417  

Total Assets $ 15,973  $ 16,008  

(1) Segment assets include accounts receivable, inventory, fixed assets, goodwill, and intangible assets.

(Dollars in millions) Second Quarter First Six Months

Sales by Customer Location 2020 2019 2020 2019

United States and Canada $ 786  $ 995  $ 1,766  $ 1,995  
Asia Pacific 523  574  1,018  1,127  
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 526  649  1,157  1,338  
Latin America 89  145  224  283  

Total Sales $ 1,924  $ 2,363  $ 4,165  $ 4,743  
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This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A") is based upon the consolidated financial
statements of Eastman Chemical Company ("Eastman" or the "Company"), which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States ("GAAP"), and should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited consolidated financial statements, including related
notes, and MD&A contained in the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the Company's unaudited consolidated financial statements,
including related notes, included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. All references to earnings per share ("EPS") contained in this report are
diluted EPS unless otherwise noted.
 

31

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/915389/000091538920000016/emn2019123110k.htm


Table of Contents

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Non-GAAP financial measures, and the accompanying reconciliations of the non-GAAP financial measures to the most comparable GAAP measures, are
presented below in this section and in "Overview", "Results of Operations", "Summary by Operating Segment", and "Liquidity and Other Financial
Information" in this MD&A.

Management discloses non-GAAP financial measures, and the related reconciliations to the most comparable GAAP financial measures, because it believes
investors use these metrics in evaluating longer term period-over-period performance, and to allow investors to better understand and evaluate the
information used by management to assess the Company's and its operating segments' performances, make resource allocation decisions, and evaluate
organizational and individual performances in determining certain performance-based compensation. Non-GAAP financial measures do not have
definitions under GAAP, and may be defined differently by, and not be comparable to, similarly titled measures used by other companies. As a result,
management cautions investors not to place undue reliance on any non-GAAP financial measure, but to consider such measures alongside the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measure.

Company Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Non-Core Items and any Unusual or Non-Recurring Items Excluded from Non-GAAP Earnings

In addition to evaluating Eastman's financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, and cash flows as reported in accordance with GAAP, management
also evaluates Company and operating segment performance, and makes resource allocation and performance evaluation decisions, excluding the effect of
transactions, costs, and losses or gains that do not directly result from Eastman's normal, or "core", business and operations or are otherwise of an unusual
or non-recurring nature.

• Non-core transactions, costs, and losses or gains relate to, among other things, cost reductions, growth and profitability improvement initiatives,
and other events outside of core business operations, and have included asset impairments and restructuring charges and gains, costs of and related
to acquisitions, gains and losses from and costs related to dispositions, closure, or shutdowns of businesses or assets, financing transaction costs,
and mark-to-market losses or gains for pension and other postretirement benefit plans.

• In second quarter 2019, the Company recognized an unusual increase to earnings and in first six months 2019, the Company recognized an
unusual decrease to earnings from adjustments of the provision for income taxes resulting from tax law changes, primarily the 2017 Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act (the "Tax Reform Act"), and the tax impact of the related outside-U.S. entity reorganizations. Management considers these actions and
associated costs and income unusual because of the infrequent nature of such changes in tax law and resulting actions and the significant one-time
impacts on earnings.

Because non-core, unusual, or non-recurring transactions, costs, and losses or gains may materially affect the Company's, or any particular operating
segment's, financial condition or results in a specific period in which they are recognized, management believes it is appropriate to evaluate both the
financial measures prepared and calculated in accordance with GAAP and the related non-GAAP financial measures excluding the effect on the Company's
results of these non-core, unusual, or non-recurring items. In addition to using such measures to evaluate results in a specific period, management evaluates
such non-GAAP measures, and believes that investors may also evaluate such measures, because such measures may provide more complete and consistent
comparisons of the Company's and its segments' operational performance on a period-over-period historical basis and, as a result, provide a better
indication of expected future trends.
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Adjusted Tax Rate and Provision for Income Taxes

In interim periods, Eastman discloses non-GAAP earnings with an adjusted effective tax rate and a resulting adjusted provision for income taxes using the
Company's forecasted tax rate for the full year as of the end of the interim period. The adjusted effective tax rate and resulting adjusted provision for
income taxes are equal to the Company's projected full year effective tax rate and provision for income taxes on earnings excluding non-core, unusual, or
non-recurring items for completed periods. The adjusted effective tax rate and resulting adjusted provision for income taxes may fluctuate during the year
for changes in events and circumstances that change the Company's forecasted annual effective tax rate and resulting provision for income taxes excluding
non-core, unusual, or non-recurring items. Management discloses this adjusted effective tax rate, and the related reconciliation to the GAAP effective tax
rate, to provide investors more complete and consistent comparisons of the Company's operational performance on a period-over-period interim basis and
on the same basis as management evaluates quarterly financial results to provide a better indication of expected full year results.

Non-GAAP Cash Flow Measure

Eastman regularly evaluates and discloses to investors and securities analysts an alternative non-GAAP measure of "free cash flow", which management
defines as cash provided by or used in operating activities less the amount of net capital expenditures (typically the GAAP measure additions to properties
and equipment). Such net capital expenditures are generally funded from available cash and, as such, management believes they should be considered in
determining free cash flow. Management believes this is an appropriate metric to assess the Company's ability to fund priorities for uses of available cash.
The priorities for cash after funding operations include payment of quarterly dividends, repayment of debt, funding targeted growth opportunities, and
repurchasing shares. Management believes this metric is useful to investors and securities analysts to provide them with information similar to that used by
management in evaluating financial performance and potential future cash available for various initiatives and assessing organizational performance in
determining certain performance-based compensation and because management believes investors and securities analysts often use a similar measure of
free cash flow to compare the results, and value, of comparable companies. In addition, Eastman may disclose to investors and securities analysts an
alternative non-GAAP measure of "free cash flow yield", which management defines as annual free cash flow divided by the Company's market
capitalization. Management believes this metric is useful to investors and securities analysts in comparing cash flow generation with that of peer and other
companies.

Non-GAAP Debt Measure

Eastman from time to time evaluates and discloses to investors and securities and credit analysts the non-GAAP debt measure "net debt", which
management defines as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Management believes this metric is useful to investors and securities and credit
analysts to provide them with information similar to that used by management in evaluating the Company's overall financial position, liquidity, and
leverage and because management believes investors, securities analysts, credit analysts and rating agencies, and lenders often use a similar measure to
assess and compare companies' relative financial position and liquidity.

Non-GAAP Measures in this Quarterly Report

The following non-core item is excluded by management in its evaluation of certain earnings results in this Quarterly Report:
• Asset impairments and restructuring charges, net.

The following unusual items are excluded by management in its evaluation of certain earnings results in this Quarterly Report:
• Adjustments to the provision for income taxes resulting from fourth quarter 2017 tax law changes, primarily the Tax Reform Act, and related outside-

U.S. entity reorganizations.

As described above, the alternative non-GAAP measures of cash flow, free cash flow, and of debt, net debt, are presented in this Quarterly Report.
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Excluded Non-Core and Unusual Items and Adjustments to Provision for Income Taxes
 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Non-core items impacting earnings before interest and taxes:

Asset impairments and restructuring charges, net $ 141  $ 18  $ 155  $ 50  
Total non-core items impacting earnings before interest and taxes 141  18  155  50  

Less: Items impacting provision for income taxes:
Tax effect of non-core items 33  6  36  12  
Adjustments from tax law changes and outside-U.S. entity reorganizations —  3  —  (7)  
Interim adjustment to tax provision 19  (10)  11  (13)  

Total items impacting provision for income taxes 52  (1)  47  (8)  

Total items impacting net earnings attributable to Eastman $ 89  $ 19  $ 108  $ 58  

This MD&A includes an analysis of the effect of the foregoing on the following GAAP financial measures:

• Earnings before interest and taxes ("EBIT"),
• (Benefit from) provision for income taxes,
• Net earnings attributable to Eastman,
• Diluted EPS, and
• Net cash provided by operating activities.

Other Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Alternative Non-GAAP Cash Flow Measures

In addition to the non-GAAP measures presented in this Quarterly Report and other periodic reports, management occasionally has evaluated and disclosed
to investors and securities analysts the non-GAAP measure cash provided by or used in operating activities excluding certain non-core, unusual, or non-
recurring sources or uses of cash or including cash from or used by activities that are managed as part of core business operations ("adjusted cash provided
by or used in operating activities") when analyzing, among other things, business performance, liquidity and financial position, and performance-based
compensation. Management has used this non-GAAP measure in conjunction with the GAAP measure cash provided by or used in operating activities
because it believes it is an appropriate metric to evaluate the cash flows from Eastman's core operations that are available for organic and inorganic growth
initiatives and because it allows for a more consistent period-over-period presentation of such amounts. In its evaluation, management generally excludes
the impact of certain non-core activities and decisions of management that it considers not core, ongoing components of operations and the decisions to
undertake or not to undertake such activities may be made irrespective of the cash generated from operations, and generally includes cash from or used in
activities that are managed as operating activities and in business operating decisions. Management has disclosed this non-GAAP measure and the related
reconciliation to investors and securities analysts to allow them to better understand and evaluate the information used by management in its decision-
making processes and because management believes investors and securities analysts use similar measures to assess Company performance, liquidity, and
financial position over multiple periods and to compare these with other companies.
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Alternative Non-GAAP Earnings Measures

From time to time, Eastman may also disclose to investors and securities analysts the non-GAAP earnings measures "EBIT Margin", "Adjusted EBITDA",
"EBITDA Margin", and "Return on Invested Capital" (or "ROIC"). Management defines EBIT Margin as the GAAP measure EBIT adjusted to exclude the
same non-core, unusual, or non-recurring items as are excluded from the Company's other non-GAAP earnings measures for the same periods divided by
the GAAP measure sales revenue in the Company's income statement for the same period. Adjusted EBITDA is EBITDA (net earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization) adjusted to exclude the same non-core, unusual, or non-recurring items as are excluded from the Company's other
non-GAAP earnings measures for the same periods. EBITDA Margin is Adjusted EBITDA divided by the GAAP measure sales revenue in the Company's
income statement for the same periods. Management defines ROIC as net earnings plus interest expense after tax divided by average total borrowings plus
average stockholders' equity for the periods presented, each derived from the GAAP measures in the Company's financial statements for the periods
presented. Management believes that EBIT Margin, Adjusted EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, and ROIC are useful as supplemental measures in evaluating the
performance of and returns from Eastman's operating businesses, and from time to time uses such measures in internal performance calculations. Further,
management understands that investors and securities analysts often use similar measures of EBIT Margin, Adjusted EBITDA, EBITDA Margin, and
ROIC to compare the results, returns, and value of the Company with those of peer and other companies.

OVERVIEW

Eastman's products and operations are managed and reported in four operating segments: Additives & Functional Products ("AFP"), Advanced Materials
("AM"), Chemical Intermediates ("CI"), and Fibers. Eastman uses an innovation-driven growth model which consists of leveraging world class scalable
technology platforms, delivering differentiated application development capabilities, and relentlessly engaging the market. The Company's world class
technology platforms form the foundation of sustainable growth by differentiated products through significant scale advantages in research and
development ("R&D") and advantaged global market access. Differentiated application development converts market complexity into opportunities for
growth and accelerates innovation by enabling a deeper understanding of the value of Eastman's products and how they perform within customers' and end-
user products. Key areas of application development include thermoplastic conversion, functional films, coatings formulations, rubber additive
formulations, adhesives formulations, nonwovens and textiles, animal nutrition, and chemical and plastics recycling technologies. The Company engages
the market by working directly with customers and downstream users, targeting attractive niche markets, and leveraging disruptive macro trends.
Management believes that these elements of the Company's innovation-driven growth model, combined with disciplined portfolio management and
balanced capital deployment, will result in consistent, sustainable earnings growth and strong cash flow.

The Company generated sales revenue of $1.9 billion and $2.4 billion in second quarter 2020 and 2019, respectively, and $4.2 billion and $4.7 billion in
first six months 2020 and 2019, respectively. EBIT was $54 million and $371 million in second quarter 2020 and 2019, respectively, and $422 million and
$691 million in first six months 2020 and 2019, respectively. Excluding the non-core and unusual items identified in "Non-GAAP Financial Measures",
adjusted EBIT was $195 million and $389 million in second quarter 2020 and 2019, respectively, and $577 million and $741 million in first six months
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Further discussion of sales revenue and EBIT changes is presented in "Results of Operations" and "Summary by Operating Segment" in this MD&A.
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Net earnings and EPS and adjusted net earnings and EPS were as follows:
Second Quarter

2020 2019

(Dollars in millions, except EPS) $ EPS $ EPS

Net earnings attributable to Eastman $ 27  $ 0.20  $ 258  $ 1.85  
Total non-core and unusual items, net of tax 108  0.79  9  0.07  
Interim adjustment to tax provision (19)  (0.14)  10  0.07  

Adjusted net earnings $ 116  $ 0.85  $ 277  $ 1.99  

First Six Months

2020 2019

(Dollars in millions, except EPS)  $ EPS  $ EPS

Net earnings attributable to Eastman $ 285  $ 2.09  $ 467  $ 3.34  
Total non-core and unusual items, net of tax 119  0.87  45  0.32  
Interim adjustment to tax provision (11)  (0.08)  13  0.10  

Adjusted net earnings $ 393  $ 2.88  $ 525  $ 3.76  

Cash provided by operating activities was $607 million and $417 million in first six months 2020 and 2019, respectively. Free cash flow was $411 million
and $219 million in first six months 2020 and 2019, respectively.

COVID-19 Coronavirus Pandemic Response and Impact

Following the outbreak of the COVID-19 coronavirus global pandemic ("COVID-19") in early 2020, in March 2020 the U.S. Centers for Disease Control
issued guidelines to mitigate the spread and health consequences of COVID-19. The Company implemented changes to its operations and business
practices to follow the guidelines and minimize physical interaction, including using technology to allow employees to work from home when possible and
altering production procedures and schedules.

In response to the uncertainties of the impact of COVID-19 (including on overall business and market conditions; Eastman manufacturing sites and
distribution, sales, and service facilities closure or reduced availability; and Eastman products market demand weakness and supply chain disruption),
management's focus shifted to cash flow, liquidity, and cost management.

As previously reported, as a precautionary measure due to increased financial market volatility resulting from COVID-19, Eastman took certain liquidity
actions, including borrowing $400 million under the revolving credit agreement (the "Credit Facility") in March 2020 and $250 million under a new 364-
Day Term Loan Credit Agreement (the "Term Loan") in April 2020. Borrowings under the Credit Facility were repaid in second quarter 2020. The
Company reduced net debt by $149 million in the first half of 2020, and its cash balance as of June 30, 2020 was $704 million. See "Liquidity and Other
Financial Information" for additional information.

In second quarter and first six months 2020 capacity utilization was substantially lower due to lower sales volume and the Company's focus on maximizing
cash generation by reducing inventories, reducing EBIT approximately $140 million with approximately half of the impact in the AM segment. Cost
reduction actions in response to COVID-19, including reduced discretionary spending, deferred asset maintenance turnarounds, and adjusted operations to
ensure the health and safety of employees and contractors, totaled approximately $60 million in second quarter 2020 and are expected to total
approximately $150 million for full year 2020, primarily in "Cost of Sales" in the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Earnings, Comprehensive Income
and Retained Earnings in both periods. See "Summary by Operating Segment" and "Outlook" for additional information.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Sales
Second Quarter First Six Months

Change Change

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019  $ % 2020 2019  $ %

Sales $ 1,924  $ 2,363  $ (439)  (19)% $ 4,165  $ 4,743  $ (578)  (12)%
Volume / product mix effect (302)  (13)% (299)  (6)%
Price effect (125)  (5)% (251)  (5)%
Exchange rate effect (12)  (1)% (28)  (1)%

Sales revenue decreased in second quarter and first six months 2020 compared to second quarter and first six months 2019 as a result of decreases in all
operating segments. Further discussion by operating segment is presented in "Summary by Operating Segment" in this MD&A.

Gross Profit

 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change

Gross profit $ 371  $ 589  (37)% $ 948  $ 1,163  (18)%

Gross profit decreased in second quarter 2020 compared to second quarter 2019 as a result of decreases in all operating segments. Gross profit decreased in
first six months 2020 compared to first six months 2019 as a result of decreases in all operating segments except the Fibers segment which was relatively
unchanged. Lower gross profit was primarily due to lower capacity utilization as a result of lower sales volume and reduction in inventory, partially offset
by cost reduction actions. Further discussion by operating segment is presented in "Summary by Operating Segment" in this MD&A.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change

Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 155  $ 165  (6)% $ 315  $ 352  (11)%

Selling, General and Administrative ("SG&A") expenses decreased in second quarter 2020 compared to second quarter 2019 primarily as a result of cost
reduction actions partially offset by higher variable compensation costs. SG&A expenses decreased in first six months 2020 compared to first six months
2019 primarily as a result of cost reduction actions and lower variable compensation costs.

Research and Development Expenses
 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change

Research and development expenses $ 52  $ 57  (9)% $ 113  $ 115  (2)%

R&D expenses decreased in second quarter and first six months 2020 compared to second quarter and first six months 2019 primarily due to cost reduction
actions including increased focus on project prioritization.
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Asset Impairments and Restructuring Charges, Net

 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Fixed asset impairments $ 13  $ —  $ 20  $ —  
Intangible asset impairments 123  —  125  —  
Severance charges 2  16  7  44  
Other restructuring costs 3  2  3  6  

Total $ 141  $ 18  $ 155  $ 50  

In second quarter and first six months 2020 the Company recognized intangible asset impairments of $123 million in the AFP segment tire additives
business to reduce the carrying value of the Crystex™ and Santoflex™ tradenames to the estimated fair value. The impairments are primarily the result of
weakened demand in transportation markets impacted by COVID-19 and increased competitive pricing pressure as a result of global capacity increases.
The Company also recognized a fixed asset impairment of $5 million in the AFP segment resulting from the closure of a tire additives manufacturing
facility in Asia Pacific as part of ongoing site optimization. Additionally, management decided to discontinue growth initiatives for polyester based
microfibers, including Avra™ performance fibers, that were not allocated to an operating segment and reported in "Other" resulting in $8 million of asset
impairments and $3 million in contract termination fees.

In second quarter and first six months 2020, in the CI segment, the Company recognized severance charges of $2 million and $3 million, respectively,
related to the previously disclosed plan to discontinue production of certain products at the Singapore manufacturing site by the end of 2020. Restructuring
charges totaling up to $50 million are expected in 2020 for this action. This action is projected to result in an estimated annual earnings benefit of
approximately $25 million in the AFP and CI segments beginning mostly in 2021.

Additionally, first six months 2020 asset impairments and restructuring charges included fixed asset impairment charges of $4 million and severance
charges of $3 million in the AM segment resulting from the closure of a performance films manufacturing facility in North America and fixed asset
impairment charges of $3 million and severance charges of $1 million in the AFP segment for a manufacturing facility in Asia Pacific, each part of ongoing
site optimization actions. The Company also recognized an intangible asset impairment charge of $2 million in the AFP segment for customer
relationships.

Second quarter and first six months 2019 restructuring charges included $18 million and $46 million, respectively, for severance and related costs as part of
business improvement and cost reduction initiatives. First six months 2019 also included an additional $4 million restructuring charge related to a capital
project in the AFP segment that was discontinued in 2016.

As part of ongoing site optimization efforts, in July 2020 management decided to close an advanced interlayers manufacturing facility in North America in
the AM segment. Management expects charges of up to $30 million in second half 2020 related to this decision.

For more information regarding asset impairments and restructuring charges, net see Note 13, "Asset Impairments and Restructuring Charges, Net", to the
Company's unaudited consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Other Components of Post-employment (Benefit) Cost, Net
 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Other components of post-employment (benefit) cost, net $ (30)  $ (21)  $ (60)  $ (42)  

For more information regarding other components of post-employment (benefit) cost, net see Note 7, "Retirement Plans", to the Company's unaudited
consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Other (Income) Charges, Net

 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Foreign exchange transaction (gains) losses, net $ —  $ 2  $ 5  $ 2  
(Income) loss from equity investments and other investment (gains) losses, net —  (3)  (3)  (6)  
Other, net (1)  —  1  1  

Other (income) charges, net $ (1)  $ (1)  $ 3  $ (3)  

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes
 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 54  $ 371  (85)% $ 422  $ 691  (39)%
Asset impairments and restructuring charges, net 141  18  155  50  

Earnings before interest and taxes excluding non-core
items $ 195  $ 389  (50)% $ 577  $ 741  (22)%

Net Interest Expense
 Second Quarter First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 Change 2020 2019 Change

Gross interest costs $ 56  $ 56  — % $ 110  $ 114  (4)%
Less: Capitalized interest 1  1  2  2  

Interest expense 55  55  108  112  
Less: Interest income —  —   1  1   

Net interest expense $ 55  $ 55  — % $ 107  $ 111  (4)%

Net interest expense decreased primarily as a result of lower interest rates and prior year repayment of public debt.

(Benefit from) Provision for Income Taxes
Second Quarter First Six Months

2020 2019 2020 2019

(Dollars in millions) $ % $ % $ % $ %
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes and
effective tax rate $ (31)  —  $ 57  18 % $ 25  8 % $ 112  19 %

Tax provision for non-core items (1) 33  6  36  12  
Adjustments from tax law changes and outside-U.S.
entity reorganizations —  3  —  (7)  

Interim adjustment to tax provision (2) 19  (10)  11  (13)  
Adjusted provision for income taxes and effective tax
rate $ 21  16 % $ 56  17 % $ 72  16 % $ 104  17 %

(1) Provision for income taxes for non-core and unusual items is calculated using the tax rate for the jurisdiction where the gains are taxable and the expenses are
deductible.

(2) Second quarter 2020 provision for income taxes was adjusted to reflect the current forecasted full year effective tax rate. Second quarter 2019 provision for income
taxes was adjusted to reflect the then current forecasted full year effective tax rate. The adjusted provision for income taxes for first six months 2020 and 2019 are
calculated applying the forecasted full year effective tax rates as shown below.

39



Table of Contents

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

First Six Months (1)

2020 2019

Effective tax rate 8 % 19 %

Discrete tax items (2) 1 % — %

Tax impact of non-core and unusual items (3) 7 % 1 %
Changes in tax contingencies and valuation allowances 2 % — %
Forecasted full year impact of expected tax events (2)% (3)%

Forecasted full year effective tax rate 16 % 17 %

(1) Effective tax rate percentages are rounded to the nearest whole percent. The forecasted full year effective tax rates are 15.5 percent and 16.5 percent for first six
months 2020 and 2019, respectively.

(2) "Discrete tax items" are items that are excluded from a company's estimated annual effective tax rate and recognized entirely in the quarter in which the item
occurs. Discrete items for first six months 2020 are for share based compensation expense and estimated adjustments to certain prior year tax returns.

(3) Provision for income taxes for non-core and unusual items is calculated using the tax rate for the jurisdiction where the gains are taxable and the expenses are
deductible.

Net Earnings Attributable to Eastman and Diluted Earnings per Share
Second Quarter

2020 2019

(Dollars in millions, except EPS) $ EPS $ EPS

Net earnings and diluted earnings per share attributable to Eastman $ 27  $ 0.20  $ 258  $ 1.85  
Non-core items, net of tax: (1)

Asset impairments and restructuring charges, net 108  0.79  12  0.09  
Unusual items, net of tax: (1)

Adjustments from tax law changes and outside-U.S. entity reorganizations —  —  (3)  (0.02)  
Interim adjustment to tax provision (19)  (0.14)  10  0.07  

Adjusted net earnings and diluted earnings per share attributable to Eastman $ 116  $ 0.85  $ 277  $ 1.99  

First Six Months

2020 2019

(Dollars in millions, except EPS) $ EPS $ EPS

Net earnings and diluted earnings per share attributable to Eastman $ 285  $ 2.09  $ 467  $ 3.34  
Non-core items, net of tax: (1)

Asset impairments and restructuring charges, net 119  0.87  38  0.27  
Unusual items, net of tax: (1)

Adjustments from tax law changes and outside-U.S. entity reorganizations —  —  7  0.05  
Interim adjustment to tax provision (11)  (0.08)  13  0.10  

Adjusted net earnings and diluted earnings per share attributable to Eastman $ 393  $ 2.88  $ 525  $ 3.76  

(1) Provision for income taxes for non-core and unusual items is calculated using the tax rate for the jurisdiction where the gains are taxable and the expenses are
deductible.
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SUMMARY BY OPERATING SEGMENT

Eastman's products and operations are managed and reported in four operating segments: Additives & Functional Products ("AFP"), Advanced Materials
("AM"), Chemical Intermediates ("CI"), and Fibers. For additional financial and product information for each operating segment, see Part I, Item 1,
"Business - Business Segments" and Part II, Item 8, Note 19, "Segment and Regional Sales Information", in the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Additives & Functional Products Segment
Second Quarter First Six Months

Change   Change

2020 2019  $ % 2020 2019  $ %
(Dollars in millions)

Sales $ 685  $ 823  $ (138)  (17)% $ 1,507  $ 1,678  $ (171)  (10)%
Volume / product mix effect (83)  (10)%   (60)  (3)%
Price effect (50)  (6)%   (98)  (6)%
Exchange rate effect (5)  (1)%   (13)  (1)%

Earnings (loss) before interest and taxes $ (56)  $ 147  $ (203)  (138)% $ 87  $ 293  $ (206)  (70)%
Asset impairments and restructuring
charges, net 128  —  128  134  4  130  

Earnings before interest and taxes
excluding non-core items 72  147  (75)  (51)% 221  297  (76)  (26)%

Sales revenue in second quarter 2020 decreased compared to second quarter 2019 primarily due to lower sales volume and lower selling prices. The
negative impact of COVID-19 on demand resulted in lower sales volume of tire additives and coatings and inks additives used in the transportation end-
market and of specialty fluids used in the aviation end-market, partially offset by higher sales volume of care chemicals and adhesives resins products used
in certain consumable and personal care end-markets attributed to strengthened demand due to COVID-19, resulting overall in less favorable product mix.
Lower selling prices were primarily attributed to increased competition and cost-pass-through contracts. Increased competition was primarily in tire
additives and, to a lesser extent, adhesives resins products.

Sales revenue in first six months 2020 decreased compared to first six months 2019 primarily due to lower selling prices and lower sales volume. Lower
selling prices were due to increased competitive activity in adhesives resins and tire additives products. Lower raw material prices also contributed to price
declines, particularly for cost-pass-through contracts. Lower sales volume was due to lower sales volume of tire additives and coatings and inks additives
used in the transportation end-market and specialty fluids used in the aviation end-market partially offset by higher sales volume of care chemicals and
adhesives resins products used in certain consumable and personal care end-markets, resulting in less favorable product mix.

Second quarter 2020 loss before interest and taxes included intangible asset impairment charges of $123 million for tire additive tradenames. The
impairments are primarily the result of weakened demand in transportation markets impacted by COVID-19 and increased competitive pricing pressure as a
result of global capacity increases. Second quarter 2020 loss before interest and taxes also included asset impairments and restructuring charges of $5
million for closure of a tire additives manufacturing facility in Asia Pacific as part of ongoing site optimization actions. Excluding these non-core items,
EBIT decreased in second quarter 2020 compared to second quarter 2019 primarily due to $76 million of lower sales volume and higher manufacturing
costs primarily due to lower capacity utilization and reduction of inventory. These higher costs were offset $12 million by cost reduction actions.
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First six months 2020 EBIT included intangible asset impairment charges of $125 million for tradenames and customer relationships and asset impairments
and restructuring charges of $9 million for closure of manufacturing facilities in Asia Pacific as part of ongoing site optimization actions. First six months
2019 EBIT included a restructuring charge related to a capital project. Excluding these non-core items, EBIT decreased in first six months 2020 compared
to first six months 2019 primarily due to $84 million of lower sales volume and higher manufacturing costs primarily due to lower capacity utilization and
reduction of inventory. These higher costs were offset $12 million by cost reduction actions.

Advanced Materials Segment
Second Quarter First Six Months

Change   Change

2020 2019  $ % 2020 2019  $ %
(Dollars in millions)

Sales $ 567  $ 696  $ (129)  (19)% $ 1,182  $ 1,353  $ (171)  (13)%
Volume / product mix effect (109)  (16)%   (130)  (10)%
Price effect (15)  (2)%   (31)  (2)%
Exchange rate effect (5)  (1)%   (10)  (1)%

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 64  $ 145  $ (81)  (56)% $ 164  $ 247  $ (83)  (34)%
Asset impairments and restructuring
charges, net —  —  —  7  —  7  

Earnings before interest and taxes
excluding non-core item 64  145  (81)  (56)% 171  247  (76)  (31)%

Sales revenue in second quarter and first six months 2020 decreased compared to second quarter and first six months 2019 due to lower sales volume and
less favorable product mix. Lower sales volume was most pronounced for products in markets negatively impacted by COVID-19, particularly interlayers,
films, and copolyester products sold in transportation and consumer durables end-markets, partially offset by increased sales volume of certain standard
copolyester products used in applications for personal care and wellness and consumables end-markets attributed to strengthened demand due to COVID-
19.

Second quarter 2020 EBIT decreased compared to second quarter 2019 primarily due to $108 million of lower sales volume and higher manufacturing
costs due to lower capacity utilization and reduction of inventory. Several manufacturing facilities that primarily serve transportation end-markets were
temporarily idled during second quarter. As a result, certain manufacturing costs were recognized in the second quarter rather than being assigned to
products in inventory and then recognized over several periods. These higher costs were offset $28 million by cost reduction actions.

First six months 2020 EBIT included asset impairments and restructuring charges resulting from the closure of a performance films manufacturing facility
in North America as part of ongoing site optimization actions. Excluding this non-core item, EBIT in first six months 2020 decreased compared to first six
months 2019 primarily due to $115 million of lower sales volume and higher manufacturing costs due to lower capacity utilization and reduction of
inventory. These higher costs were offset $28 million by cost reduction actions. In addition, lower raw material and energy costs offset lower selling prices
by $22 million.
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Chemical Intermediates Segment
Second Quarter First Six Months

Change   Change

2020 2019  $ % 2020 2019  $ %
(Dollars in millions)

Sales $ 461  $ 631  $ (170)  (27)% $ 1,053  $ 1,286  $ (233)  (18)%
Volume / product mix effect (111)  (18)%   (113)  (9)%
Price effect (58)  (9)%   (116)  (9)%
Exchange rate effect (1)  — %   (4)  — %

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 20  $ 63  $ (43)  (68)% $ 100  $ 136  $ (36)  (26)%
Asset impairments and restructuring
charges, net 2  —  2  3  —  3  

Earnings before interest and taxes
excluding non-core item 22  63  (41)  (65)% 103  136  (33)  (24)%

Sales revenue in second quarter 2020 decreased compared to second quarter 2019 primarily due to lower sales volume and lower selling prices across the
segment. Lower sales volume was attributed to the negative impact of COVID-19 on demand, and lower Brent crude oil prices resulting in U.S. olefin
production being less competitive globally. Lower selling prices resulted from lower raw material prices.

Sales revenue in first six months 2020 decreased compared to first six months 2019 primarily due to lower selling prices across the segment resulting from
lower raw material prices, and lower sales volume in most product lines primarily impacted by COVID-19 and increased competitive pressure.

Second quarter and first six months 2020 EBIT included restructuring severance charges related to the previously reported plan to discontinue production
of certain products at the Singapore manufacturing facility by the end of 2020. Excluding this non-core item, EBIT decreased compared to second quarter
and first six months 2019 primarily due to $50 million and $45 million, respectively, of lower sales volume and higher manufacturing costs due to lower
capacity utilization and reduction of inventory. These higher costs were offset $15 million by cost reduction actions in both second quarter and first six
months 2020. Selling prices were mostly offset by lower raw material and energy costs.

Fibers Segment
Second Quarter First Six Months

Change   Change

2020 2019  $ % 2020 2019  $ %
(Dollars in millions)

Sales $ 211  $ 213  $ (2)  (1)% $ 423  $ 426  $ (3)  (1)%
Volume / product mix effect 1  — %   4  — %
Price effect (2)  (1)%   (6)  (1)%
Exchange rate effect (1)  — %   (1)  — %

Earnings before interest and taxes $ 46  $ 51  $ (5)  (10)% $ 99  $ 93  $ 6  6 %

Sales revenue in second quarter and first six months 2020 was relatively unchanged compared to second quarter and first six months 2019. Acetate tow
sales volume increased slightly due to customer buying patterns while lower textile products sales volume was primarily attributed to the impact of
COVID-19.
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Second quarter 2020 EBIT decreased compared to second quarter 2019 primarily due to $7 million of higher manufacturing costs resulting from lower
capacity utilization and reduction of inventory. These higher costs were offset $4 million by cost reduction actions.

First six months 2020 EBIT increased compared to first six months 2019 primarily due to the $4 million impact of cost reduction actions. Higher
manufacturing costs due to lower capacity utilization and reduction of inventory were offset by higher sales volume.

Other
Second Quarter First Six Months

2020 2019 2020 2019
(Dollars in millions)

Loss before interest and taxes
Growth initiatives and businesses not allocated to operating segments $ (28)  $ (25)  $ (51)  $ (52)  
Pension and other postretirement benefits income (expense), net not allocated to operating
segments 20  11  41  23  
Asset impairments and restructuring charges, net (11)  (18)  (11)  (46)  
Other income (charges), net not allocated to operating segments (1)  (3)  (7)  (3)  

Loss before interest and taxes $ (20)  $ (35)  $ (28)  $ (78)  
Asset impairments and restructuring charges, net 11  18  11  46  

Loss before interest and taxes excluding non-core items (9)  (17)  (17)  (32)  

Costs related to growth initiatives, R&D costs, certain components of pension and other postretirement benefits, and other expenses and income not
identifiable to an operating segment are not included in operating segment results for any of the periods presented and are included in "Other". In second
quarter and first six months 2020, the Company recognized $8 million of asset impairments and $3 million in contract termination fees resulting from
management's decision to discontinue growth initiatives for polyester based microfibers, including Avra™ performance fibers.

SALES BY CUSTOMER LOCATION
Sales Revenue

 Second Quarter First Six Months

Change Change

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 $ % 2020 2019  $ %

United States and Canada $ 786  $ 995  $ (209)  (21)% $ 1,766  $ 1,995  $ (229)  (11)%
Asia Pacific 523  574  (51)  (9)% 1,018  1,127  (109)  (10)%
Europe, Middle East, and Africa 526  649  (123)  (19)% 1,157  1,338  (181)  (14)%
Latin America 89  145  (56)  (39)% 224  283  (59)  (21)%

Total Eastman Chemical Company $ 1,924  $ 2,363  $ (439)  (19)% $ 4,165  $ 4,743  $ (578)  (12)%

Sales revenue in United States and Canada decreased in second quarter 2020 compared to second quarter 2019 primarily due to lower sales volume and
selling prices in all operating segments, particularly in the AFP and CI segments. Sales revenue in United States and Canada decreased in first six months
2020 compared to first six months 2019 primarily due to lower selling prices in all operating segments and lower sales volume in most operating segments,
offset by higher sales volume in the Fibers segment.

Sales revenue in Asia Pacific decreased in second quarter 2020 compared to second quarter 2019 primarily due to lower selling prices in all operating
segments, particularly in the AFP and CI segments, and lower sales volume mostly in the AM segment, partially offset by higher sales volume in the AFP
and Fibers segments. Sales revenue in Asia Pacific decreased in first six months 2020 compared to first six months 2019 primarily due to lower selling
prices in all operating segments, particularly in the AFP and CI segments, and lower sales volume, mostly in the AM segment, partially offset by higher
sales volume in the Fibers segment.
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Sales revenue in Europe, Middle East, and Africa decreased in second quarter 2020 compared to second quarter 2019 primarily due to lower sales volume
in most operating segments, except the Fibers segment, and lower selling prices in all operating segments. Sales revenue in Europe, Middle East, and
Africa decreased in first six months 2020 compared to first six months 2019 primarily due to lower sales volume and lower selling prices in all operating
segments.

Sales revenue in Latin America decreased in second quarter and first six months 2020 compared to second quarter and first six months 2019 primarily due
to lower sales volume in all operating segments.

LIQUIDITY AND OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

COVID-19 Liquidity Actions

Priorities for uses of available cash for full year 2020 include payment of the quarterly dividend and the reduction of net debt by more than $600 million. In
March and April, as a precautionary measure due to increased financial market volatility resulting from COVID-19, the Company took certain liquidity
actions, including borrowing $400 million under its existing Credit Facility and $250 million under a new Term Loan agreement. The Company has
subsequently repaid the entire $400 million Credit Facility borrowings. As previously reported, in April the Company amended the covenants of both loan
agreements to reflect higher cash balances and the expected negative impact on operating results impacted by COVID-19.

Cash Flows

Cash flows from operations, cash and cash equivalents, and the other sources of liquidity described below are expected to be available and sufficient to
meet foreseeable cash requirements. However, the Company's cash flows from operations can be affected by numerous factors including risks associated
with global operations, raw material availability and cost, demand for and pricing of Eastman's products, capacity utilization, and other factors described
under "Risk Factors" in this MD&A. Management believes maintaining a financial profile consistent with an investment grade credit rating is important to
its long-term strategic and financial flexibility.

First Six Months

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019
Net cash provided by (used in)

Operating activities $ 607  $ 417  
Investing activities (201)  (219)  
Financing activities 94  (237)  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents —  (1)  

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 500  (40)  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 204  226  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 704  $ 186  

 
Cash provided by operating activities increased $190 million in first six months 2020 compared with first six months 2019 due to lower increases in net
working capital (trade receivables, inventories, and trade payables), partially offset by lower net earnings.

Cash used in investing activities decreased $18 million in first six months 2020 compared with first six months 2019 due to an acquisition in the AFP
business segment in first six months 2019.

Cash provided by financing activities increased $331 million in first six months 2020 compared with first six months 2019 due to lower share repurchases
and higher net proceeds from borrowings, primarily the Term Loan borrowings.
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 First Six Months
(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 607  $ 417  
Capital expenditures (196)  (198)  
Free cash flow $ 411  $ 219  

Working Capital Management and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

Eastman applies a proactive and disciplined approach to working capital management to optimize cash flow and to enable a full range of capital allocation
options in support of the Company's strategy. Eastman expects to continue utilizing the programs described below to support free cash flow consistent with
our past practices.

Since 2019, the Company has been expanding its off balance sheet, uncommitted accounts receivable factoring program under which entire invoices may
be sold, without recourse, to third-party financial institutions. Available capacity under these agreements, which the Company uses as a source of working
capital funding, is dependent on the level of accounts receivable eligible to be sold and the financial institutions' willingness to purchase such receivables.
The total amounts sold in second quarter 2020 and 2019 were $411 million and $169 million, respectively, and $868 million and $270 million in first six
months 2020 and 2019, respectively. Based on the original terms of receivables sold for certain agreements and actual outstanding balance of receivables
under service agreements, the Company estimates that $214 million and $169 million of these receivables would have been outstanding as of June 30,
2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, had they not been sold under these factoring agreements.

Eastman works with suppliers to optimize payment terms and conditions on accounts payable to enhance timing of working capital and cash flows. As part
of these efforts, in 2019, the Company introduced a voluntary supply chain finance program to provide suppliers with the opportunity to sell receivables
due from Eastman to a participating financial institution. See Note 1, "Significant Accounting Policies", to the Company's unaudited consolidated financial
statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for additional information regarding both programs.

Debt and Other Commitments

(Dollars in millions) Payments Due for

Period Debt Securities

Credit
Facilities and

Other
Interest
Payable

Purchase
Obligations

Operating
Leases

Other
Liabilities Total

Remainder of 2020 $ —  $ 517  $ 97  $ 95  $ 33  $ 127  $ 869  
2021 483  —  187  153  55  70  948  
2022 742  —  175  101  41  80  1,139  
2023 839  —  155  90  27  85  1,196  
2024 241  —  136  94  15  98  584  
2025 and beyond 3,311  —  1,414  1,958  32  1,112  7,827  

Total $ 5,616  $ 517  $ 2,164  $ 2,491  $ 203  $ 1,572  $ 12,563  

For information about purchase obligations and operating leases, see Note 8, "Leases and Other Commitments", to the Company's unaudited consolidated
financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Amounts in other liabilities represent the current estimated cash payments required to be made by the Company primarily for pension and other
postretirement benefits, environmental loss contingency reserves, accrued compensation benefits, uncertain tax liabilities, and commodity and foreign
exchange hedging in the periods indicated. Due to uncertainties in the timing of the effective settlement of tax positions with respect to taxing authorities,
management is unable to determine the timing of payments related to uncertain tax liabilities and these amounts are included in the "2025 and beyond" line
item. See Note 7, "Retirement Plans" and Note 9, "Environmental Matters and Asset Retirement Obligations", to the Company's unaudited consolidated
financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for more information regarding pension and other postretirement benefit
obligations and outstanding environmental matters and asset retirement obligations, respectively.

Loan Agreement, Credit Facility, and Commercial Paper Borrowings

In April 2020, the Company borrowed $250 million under a new Term Loan as a precautionary measure due to increased financial market volatility,
particularly in the availability and terms of commercial paper, resulting from COVID-19. Borrowings under the Term Loan are subject to interest at varying
spreads above quoted market rates. At June 30, 2020, the Company's borrowings under the Term Loan were $249 million with a weighted average interest
rate of 2.75 percent. See Note 5, "Borrowings" to the Company's unaudited consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q.

The Company has access to a $1.50 billion Credit Facility expiring October 2023. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are subject to interest at varying
spreads above quoted market rates and a commitment fee is paid on the total unused commitment. The Credit Facility provides available liquidity for
general corporate purposes and supports commercial paper borrowings. At June 30, 2020, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the Credit
Facility. At June 30, 2020, the Company's commercial paper borrowings were $268 million with a weighted average interest rate of 0.53 percent. See Note
5, "Borrowings", to the Company's unaudited consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

The Credit Facility and Term Loan contain customary covenants, including requirements to maintain certain financial ratios, that determine the events of
default, amounts available, and terms of borrowings. The Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants at both June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019. The total amount of available borrowings under the Credit Facility was approximately $1.50 billion as of June 30, 2020.

As previously reported, in April 2020 the Company amended the Credit Facility and the Term Loan maximum debt covenants to reflect the higher cash
balance to enhance liquidity due to, and the expected negative impact on operating results of, COVID-19 and added a new restrictive covenant prohibiting
stock repurchases until June 30, 2021 in the event certain financial ratios are exceeded. See the Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 6, 2020 for
additional information on the amendments to the Credit Facility and the Term Loan.

In April 2020, management made the decision not to renew the Company's $250 million accounts receivable securitization agreement, determining other
available sources of liquidity sufficient to meet foreseeable cash requirements. See Note 5, "Borrowings", to the Company's unaudited consolidated
financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Net Debt
 June 30, December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019
Total borrowings $ 6,133  $ 5,782  
Less: Cash and cash equivalents 704  204  
Net debt $ 5,429  $ 5,578  

In the first half of 2020 the Company reduced net debt by $149 million and at June 30, 2020 had cash and cash equivalents of $704 million.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures were $196 million and $198 million in first six months 2020 and 2019, respectively. Capital expenditures in first six months 2020
were primarily for targeted growth initiatives and site modernization projects. The Company expects that 2020 capital expenditures will be between
$325 million and $375 million, primarily for targeted growth initiatives and maintenance.

Stock Repurchases and Dividends

In February 2018, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $2 billion of the Company's outstanding common stock at such
times, in such amounts, and on such terms, as determined by management to be in the best interest of the Company. As of June 30, 2020, a total of
7,887,216 shares have been repurchased under this authorization for a total amount of $633 million.

The Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.66 per share during the third quarter of 2020, payable on October 2, 2020 to stockholders of record
on September 15, 2020.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In preparing the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP, management must make decisions which impact the reported amounts and the
related disclosures. Such decisions include the selection of the appropriate accounting principles to be applied and assumptions on which to base estimates
and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, sales revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
On an ongoing basis, Eastman evaluates its estimates, including those related to impairment of long-lived assets, environmental costs, pension and other
postretirement benefits, litigation and contingent liabilities, and income taxes. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions
or conditions. Management believes the critical accounting estimates described in Part II, Item 7 of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K are
the most important to the fair presentation of the Company's financial condition and results. These estimates require management's most significant
judgments in the preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is an asset determined as the residual of the purchase price over the fair value of identified assets and liabilities acquired in a business
combination. As of June 30, 2020, the goodwill balance as reported on the Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position is $4.4 billion. In
accordance with GAAP, Eastman conducts testing of goodwill annually in the fourth quarter of each year or more frequently when events and
circumstances indicate an impairment may have occurred. As a result of impact on the Company of market deterioration impacted by COVID-19, the
Company considered whether these conditions indicated that it was more likely than not that goodwill was impaired for each of its reporting units.
Management does not believe it is more likely than not that goodwill was impaired for each of its reporting units as of June 30, 2020.

However, the decrease in forecasted revenue and EBIT for the tire additives reporting unit (part of the AFP operating segment as described in Part I, Item 1,
"Business", of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K) reduced the fair value such that the estimated fair value approximates the carrying value.
The decrease in forecasted revenue and EBIT for the tire additives reporting unit is primarily the result of weakened demand in transportation markets
impacted by COVID-19 and increased competitive pricing pressure as a result of global capacity increases. The Company uses an income approach,
including some unobservable inputs, and applies a discounted cash flow model in testing the carrying value of goodwill. Key assumptions and estimates
used in this impairment testing included projections of revenues and EBIT, the estimated weighted average cost of capital ("WACC"), and a projected long-
term growth rate. The Company believes these assumptions are consistent with those a hypothetical market participant would use given circumstances that
were present at the time the estimates were made. However, actual results and amounts may be significantly different from the Company's estimates. In
addition, the use of different estimates or assumptions could result in materially different estimated fair value. The WACC is calculated incorporating
weighted average returns on debt and equity from market participants. Therefore, changes in the market, which are beyond the control of the Company,
may have an impact on future calculations of estimated fair value. The Company performed a sensitivity analysis assuming a 25 basis point decrease in the
projected long-term growth rate or a 25 basis point increase in the WACC, and both scenarios independently yielded approximately a $50 million decrease
to the estimated fair value for the tire additives reporting unit. As of June 30, 2020, goodwill allocated to the tire additives reporting unit is $718 million.
Additional declines in the market conditions or forecasted revenue and EBIT could result in an impairment of goodwill, especially for the tire additives
reporting unit.

Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

Eastman conducts testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets annually in the fourth quarter or more frequently when events and circumstances indicate an
impairment may have occurred. The carrying value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is considered to be impaired when the fair value, as established by
appraisal or based on discounted future cash flows of certain related products, is less than the respective carrying value.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, consisting primarily of various tradenames, are tested for potential impairment by comparing the estimated fair value to
the carrying amount. The Company uses an income approach, specifically the relief from royalty method, including some unobservable inputs, to test
indefinite-lived intangible assets. The estimated fair value of tradenames is determined based on an assumed royalty rate savings, discounted by the
calculated market participant WACC plus a risk premium.

The Company reviewed the indefinite-lived intangible assets associated with the tire additives reporting unit for impairment. As a result of the review, the
Company recognized intangible asset impairments of $123 million in second quarter 2020 in the tire additives reporting unit to reduce the carrying value of
the Crystex™ and Santoflex™ tradenames to the estimated fair value. After recognizing the impairment, the Company had $371 million in indefinite-lived
intangible assets. The remaining tradename carrying value of $42 million for the tire additives reporting unit will be amortized prospectively. Additional
declines in the market conditions or forecasted revenue could result in additional impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets.

The Company will continue to monitor both goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for any indication of events, including the continued impact of
COVID-19, which might require additional testing before the next annual impairment test and could result in material impairment charges.
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RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

For information regarding the impact of recently issued accounting standards, see Note 1, "Significant Accounting Policies", to the Company's unaudited
consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

OUTLOOK
The continuing negative impact of COVID-19 (on overall business and market conditions; Eastman manufacturing sites and distribution, sales, and service
facilities closure or reduced availability; and Eastman products market demand weakness and supply chain disruption) remains uncertain. Accordingly,
management has withdrawn the previous 2020 earnings and cash flow forecasts and underlying expectations disclosed in Part II, Item 7, "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Outlook" in the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In 2020, management expects:
• reduced discretionary spending, deferred asset maintenance turnarounds, and adjusted operations to ensure the health and safety of employees and

contractors to reduce costs approximately $150 million;
• free cash flow greater than $1 billion;
• more than $600 million reduction of net debt; and
• limiting share repurchases to offset dilution, with no share repurchases in second half of 2020.

See "Risk Factors" below.

RISK FACTORS

In addition to factors described elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, the following are the most significant known factors, risks, and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report and elsewhere from time to time. See
"Forward-Looking Statements".

Continued uncertain conditions in the global economy and the financial markets could negatively impact the Company.

The Company's business and operating results were impacted by the last global recession, and its related impacts, such as the credit market crisis, declining
consumer and business confidence, fluctuating commodity prices, volatile exchange rates, and other challenges that impacted the global economy.
Similarly, continued uncertainty in the global economy and global capital markets resulting from the current COVID-19 coronavirus global pandemic have
adversely impacted and are expected to continue to adversely impact demand for certain Eastman products and, accordingly results of operations, and may
adversely impact the Company's financial condition and cash flows and ability to access the credit and capital markets under attractive rates and terms and
negatively impact the Company's liquidity or ability to pursue certain growth initiatives.

Volatility in costs for strategic raw material and energy commodities or disruption in the supply of these commodities could adversely impact the
Company's financial results.

Eastman is reliant on certain strategic raw material and energy commodities for its operations and utilizes risk management tools, including hedging, as
appropriate, to mitigate market fluctuations in raw material and energy costs. These risk mitigation measures do not eliminate all exposure to market
fluctuations and may limit the Company from fully benefiting from lower raw material costs and, conversely, offset the impact of higher raw material costs.
In addition, the ongoing COVID-19 coronavirus global pandemic has adversely impacted and is expected to continue to impact, and natural disasters, plant
interruptions, changes in laws or regulations, war or other outbreak of hostilities or terrorism, and breakdown or degradation of transportation and supply
chain infrastructure used for delivery of strategic raw material and energy commodities could adversely impact, both the cost and availability of these
commodities.

Loss or financial weakness of any of the Company's largest customers could adversely impact the Company's financial results.

Although Eastman has an extensive customer base, loss of, or material financial weakness of, certain of the Company's largest customers could adversely
impact the Company's financial condition and results of operations until such business is replaced. No assurances can be made that the Company would be
able to regain or replace any lost customers.
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The Company's business is subject to operating risks common to chemical manufacturing businesses, including cyber security risks, any of which
could disrupt manufacturing operations or related infrastructure and adversely impact results of operations.

As a global specialty chemicals manufacturing company, Eastman's business is subject to operating risks common to chemical manufacturing, storage,
handling, and transportation, including explosions, fires, inclement weather, natural disasters, mechanical failure, unscheduled downtime, transportation
and supply chain interruptions, remediation, chemical spills, discharges or releases of toxic or hazardous substances or gases. Significant limitation on the
Company's ability to manufacture products due to disruption of manufacturing operations or related infrastructure could have a material adverse impact on
the Company's sales revenue, costs, results of operations, credit ratings, and financial condition. Disruptions could occur due to internal factors such as
computer or equipment malfunction (accidental or intentional), operator error, or process failures; or external factors such as supply chain disruption due to
the ongoing COVID-19 coronavirus global pandemic, computer or equipment malfunction at third-party service providers, natural disasters, changes in
laws or regulations, war or other outbreak of hostilities or terrorism, cyber attacks, or breakdown or degradation of transportation and supply chain
infrastructure used for delivery of supplies to the Company or for delivery of products to customers. The Company has in the past experienced cyber
attacks and breaches of its computer information systems, although none of these have had a material adverse impact on the Company's operations. While
the Company remains committed to managing cyber related risk, no assurances can be provided that any future disruptions due to these, or other,
circumstances will not have a material impact on operations. Unplanned disruptions of manufacturing operations or related infrastructure could be
significant in scale and could negatively impact operations, neighbors, and the environment, and could have a negative impact on the Company's results of
operations. As previously reported, manufacturing operations and earnings have been negatively impacted by the second quarter 2018 third-party supplier
operational disruptions at the Texas City and Longview, Texas manufacturing facilities.

Growth initiatives may not achieve desired business or financial objectives and may require significant resources in addition to or different from
those available or in excess of those estimated or budgeted for such initiatives.

Eastman continues to identify and pursue growth opportunities through both organic and inorganic initiatives. These growth opportunities include
development and commercialization or licensing of innovative new products and technologies and related employee leadership, expertise, skill
development and retention, expansion into new markets and geographic regions, alliances, ventures, and acquisitions that complement and extend the
Company's portfolio of businesses and capabilities. Such initiatives are necessarily constrained by available and development of additional resources,
including development, attraction, and retention of employee leadership, application development, and sales and marketing talent and capabilities. There
can be no assurance that such innovation, development and commercialization or licensing efforts, investments, or acquisitions and alliances (including
integration of acquired businesses) will result in financially successful commercialization of products, or acceptance by existing or new customers, or
successful entry into new markets or otherwise achieve their underlying strategic business objectives or that they will be beneficial to the Company's results
of operations. There also can be no assurance that capital projects for growth efforts can be completed within the time or at the costs projected due, among
other things, to demand for and availability of construction materials and labor and obtaining regulatory approvals and operating permits and reaching
agreement on terms of key agreements and arrangements with potential suppliers and customers. Any such delays or cost overruns or the inability to obtain
such approvals or to reach such agreements on acceptable terms could negatively impact the returns from any proposed or current investments and projects.
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The Company's substantial global operations subject it to risks of doing business in other countries, including U.S. and non-U.S. trade relations,
which could adversely impact its business, financial condition, and results of operations.

More than half of Eastman's sales for 2019 were to customers outside of North America. The Company expects sales from international markets to
continue to represent a significant portion of its sales. Also, a significant portion of the Company's manufacturing capacity is located outside of the United
States. Accordingly, the Company's business is subject to risks related to the differing legal, political, cultural, social and regulatory requirements, and
economic conditions of many jurisdictions. Fluctuations in exchange rates may impact product demand and may adversely impact the profitability in U.S.
dollars of products and services provided in foreign countries. In addition, the U.S. or foreign countries have imposed and may impose additional taxes or
otherwise tax Eastman's foreign income, or adopt or increase restrictions on foreign trade or investment, including currency exchange controls, tariffs or
other taxes, or limitations on imports or exports (including recent and proposed changes in U.S. trade policy and resulting retaliatory actions by other
countries, including China, which have recently reduced and which may increasingly reduce demand for and increase costs of impacted products or result
in U.S.-based trade counterparties limiting trade with U.S.-based companies or non-U.S. customers limiting their purchases from U.S.-based companies).
Certain legal and political risks are also inherent in the operation of a company with Eastman's global scope. For example, it may be more difficult for
Eastman to enforce its agreements or collect receivables through foreign legal systems, and the laws of some countries may not protect the Company's
intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S. Failure of foreign countries to have laws to protect Eastman's intellectual property
rights or an inability to effectively enforce such rights in foreign countries could result in loss of valuable proprietary information. There is also risk that
foreign governments may nationalize private enterprises in certain countries where Eastman operates. Social and cultural norms in certain countries may
not support compliance with Eastman's corporate policies including those that require compliance with substantive laws and regulations. Also, changes in
general economic and political conditions (including the U.K. departure from the European Union, also known as "Brexit") in countries where Eastman
operates are a risk to the Company's financial performance. As Eastman continues to operate its business globally, its success will depend, in part, on its
ability to anticipate and effectively manage these and other related risks. There can be no assurance that the consequences of these and other factors relating
to its multinational operations will not have an adverse impact on Eastman's business, financial condition, or results of operations.

Legislative, regulatory, or voluntary actions could increase the Company's future health, safety, and environmental compliance costs.

Eastman and its facilities and businesses are subject to complex health, safety, and environmental laws, regulations and related voluntary actions, both in
the U.S. and internationally, which require and will continue to require significant expenditures to remain in compliance with such laws, regulations, and
voluntary actions. The Company's accruals for such costs and associated liabilities are subject to changes in estimates on which the accruals are based. For
example, any amount accrued for environmental matters reflects the Company's assumptions about remediation requirements at the contaminated site, the
nature of the remedy, the outcome of discussions with regulatory agencies and other potentially responsible parties at multi-party sites, and the number of
and financial viability of other potentially responsible parties. Changes in the estimates on which the accruals are based, unanticipated government
enforcement action, or changes in health, safety, environmental, chemical control regulations and actions, and testing requirements could result in higher
costs. Specifically, future changes in legislation and regulation and related voluntary actions associated with physical impacts of climate change may
increase the likelihood that the Company's manufacturing facilities will in the future be impacted by carbon requirements, regulation of greenhouse gas
emissions, and energy policy, and may result in capital expenditures, increases in costs for raw materials and energy, limitations on raw material and energy
source and supply choices, and other direct compliance costs.
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Significant acquisitions expose the Company to risks and uncertainties, the occurrence of any of which could materially adversely impact the
Company's business, financial condition, and results of operations.

While acquisitions have been and continue to be a part of Eastman's growth strategy, acquisitions of large companies and businesses (such as the previous
acquisitions of Taminco Corporation and Solutia, Inc.) subject the Company to a number of risks and uncertainties, the occurrence of any of which could
have a material adverse impact on Eastman. These include, but are not limited to, the possibilities that the actual and projected future financial performance
of the acquired business may be significantly worse than expected and that, as reported in "Critical Accounting Estimates - Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets - Goodwill" in Part I, Item 2 of this Quarterly Report, the carrying values of certain assets from acquisitions may, as has been the case for certain
acquired assets primarily in the AFP segment, be impaired resulting in charges to future earnings; that significant additional indebtedness may constrain the
Company's ability to access the credit and capital markets at attractive interest rates and favorable terms, which may negatively impact the Company's
liquidity or ability to pursue certain growth initiatives; that the Company may not be able to achieve the cost, revenue, tax, or other "synergies" expected
from any acquisition, or that there may be delays in achieving any such synergies; that management's time and effort may be dedicated to the new business
resulting in a loss of focus on the successful operation of the Company's existing businesses; and that the Company may be required to expend significant
additional resources in order to integrate any acquired business into Eastman or that the integration efforts will not achieve the expected benefits.

In addition to the foregoing most significant known risk factors to the Company, there may be other factors, not currently known to the Company, which
could, in the future, materially adversely impact the Company, its business, financial condition, or results of operations. The foregoing discussion of the
most significant risk factors to the Company does not necessarily present them in order of importance. This disclosure, including information under
"Outlook" and other forward-looking statements and related disclosures made by the Company in this Quarterly Report and elsewhere from time to time,
represents management's best judgment as of the date the information is given. The Company does not undertake responsibility for updating any of such
information, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise, except as required by law. Investors are advised, however, to consult any
further public Company disclosures (such as in filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission or in Company press releases) on related subjects.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Eastman has exposure to various market risks principally due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, the pricing of various commodities, and
interest rates. In an effort to manage these risks, the Company employs various strategies, including pricing, inventory management, and hedging. The
Company enters into derivative contracts which are governed by policies, procedures, and internal processes set forth by its Board of Directors.

The Company determines its exposures to market risk by utilizing sensitivity analyses, which measure the potential losses in fair value resulting from one
or more selected hypothetical changes in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, or interest rates. For more information regarding exposures,
refer to Part II, Item 7A of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company had variable interest rate borrowings (including a term loan agreement, credit facility borrowings, and commercial paper borrowings) of
$517 million and $171 million at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. The borrowings represented approximately 8 percent and 3 percent
of total outstanding debt with weighted average interest rates of 1.60 percent and 2.03 percent at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. A
hypothetical 10 percent increase in the average interest rate applicable to these borrowings would change annualized interest expense by approximately $1
million as of June 30, 2020 compared to an immaterial impact on the annualized interest expense as of December 31, 2019.

Other than the interest rate risk related to variable interest rate borrowings discussed above, there have been no material changes to the Company's market
risks from those disclosed in Part II, Item 7A of the Company's 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Eastman maintains a set of disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that
it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in
Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. An evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company's management, including the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"), of the effectiveness of the Company's
disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that as of June 30, 2020, the Company's disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed was accumulated and communicated to
management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the second quarter of 2020 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

General

From time to time, Eastman and its operations are parties to, or targets of, lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings, including product liability,
personal injury, asbestos, patent and intellectual property, commercial, contract, environmental, antitrust, health and safety, and employment matters, which
are handled and defended in the ordinary course of business. While the Company is unable to predict the outcome of these matters, it does not believe,
based upon currently available facts, that the ultimate resolution of any such pending matters will have a material adverse effect on its overall financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Solutia Legacy Torts Claims Litigation

Pursuant to an Amended and Restated Settlement Agreement effective February 28, 2008 between Solutia, Inc. ("Solutia") and Monsanto Company
("Monsanto") in connection with Solutia's emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings (the "Monsanto Settlement Agreement"), Monsanto is
responsible for the defense and indemnification of Solutia against any Legacy Tort Claims (as defined in the Monsanto Settlement Agreement) and Solutia
has agreed to retain responsibility for certain tort claims, if any, that may arise from Solutia's conduct after its spinoff from Pharmacia Corporation (f/k/a
Monsanto), which occurred on September 1, 1997. Solutia, which became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Eastman upon Eastman's acquisition of Solutia in
July 2012, has been named as a defendant in several such proceedings, and has submitted the matters to Monsanto, which was acquired by Bayer AG in
June 2018, as Legacy Tort Claims. To the extent these matters are not within the meaning of Legacy Tort Claims, Solutia could potentially be liable
thereunder. In connection with the completion of its acquisition of Solutia, Eastman guaranteed the obligations of Solutia and Eastman was added as an
indemnified party under the Monsanto Settlement Agreement.

Trenton, Michigan Environmental Proceeding

In December 2018, Solutia, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, received a Notice and Finding of Violations from the United States Environmental
Protection Agency's Region 5 Office ("EPA") alleging that Solutia's Trenton, Michigan manufacturing operation violated certain federal air quality
regulations and certain provisions in the site's Clean Air Act Title V permit. Company representatives recently met with EPA and have determined that it is
not reasonably likely that any civil penalty assessed by EPA will be less than $100,000. While the Company intends to vigorously defend against these
allegations, this disclosure is made pursuant to Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-K, Item 103, Instruction 5.C., which requires disclosure
of administrative proceedings commenced under environmental laws that involve governmental authorities as parties and potential monetary sanctions in
excess of $100,000. The Company believes that the ultimate resolution of this proceeding will not have a material impact on the Company's financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

ITEM 1A.RISK FACTORS

For identification and discussion of the most significant risks applicable to the Company and its business, see "Risk Factors" in Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Part I, Item 2 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer

In February 2018, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $2 billion of Company's outstanding common stock at
such times, in such amounts, and on such terms, as determined by management to be in the best interest of the Company. As of June 30, 2020, a total of
7,887,216 shares have been repurchased under this authorization for a total amount of $633 million. During first six months 2020, the Company
repurchased 1,134,052 shares of common stock for a cost of $60 million. For additional information, see Note 11, "Stockholders' Equity", to the Company's
unaudited consolidated financial statements in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Period

Total Number 
of Shares 
Purchased

Average Price Paid Per
Share (1)

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of

Publicly Announced Plan 
or Program

Approximate Dollar 
Value that May Yet Be

Purchased Under the Plan or
Program

April 1 - 30, 2020 623,751  $ 48.10  623,751  $ 1.367  billion
May 1 - 31, 2020 —  $ —  —  $ 1.367  billion
June 1 - 30, 2020 —  $ —  —  $ 1.367  billion
Total 623,751  $ 48.10  623,751  

(1) Average price paid per share reflects the weighted average purchase price paid for shares.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibits filed as part of this report are listed in the Exhibit Index.

EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit Number Description

  
3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Eastman Chemical Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

3.01 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012)

3.02 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Eastman Chemical Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.02 to the Company's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017)

4.01 Form of Eastman Chemical Company common stock certificate as amended February 1, 2001 (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 4.01 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001)

4.02 Indenture, dated as of January 10, 1994, between Eastman Chemical Company and The Bank of New York, as Trustee (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 4(a) to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 10, 1994)

4.03 Indenture, dated as of June 5, 2012, between Eastman Chemical Company and Wells Fargo Bank, as Trustee (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 5, 2012)

4.04 Form of 7 1/4% Debentures due January 15, 2024 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(d) to the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K dated January 10, 1994)

4.05 Officers' Certificate pursuant to Sections 201 and 301 of the Indenture related to 7 5/8% Debentures due 2024 (incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 4(a) to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 8, 1994)

4.06 Form of 7 5/8% Debentures due June 15, 2024 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4(b) to the Company's Current Report on
Form 8-K dated June 8, 1994)

4.07 Form of 7.60% Debentures due February 1, 2027 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.08 to the Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996)

4.08 Officer's Certificate pursuant to Sections 201 and 301 of the Indenture related to 7.60% Debentures due February 1, 2027
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.09 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1996)

4.09 Form of 4.5% Note due 2021 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
December 10, 2010)

4.10 Form of 3.6% Note due 2022 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
June 5, 2012)

4.11 Form of 4.8% Note due 2042 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
June 5, 2012)

4.12 Form of 4.65% Note due 2044 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
May 15, 2014)

4.13 Form of 3.80% Note due 2025 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.18 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2014)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit Number Description

4.14 Form of 1.50% Note due 2023 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
May 26, 2016 and Exhibit 1.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 21, 2016)

4.15 Form of 1.875% Note due 2026 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
dated November 21, 2016)

4.16 Form of 3.5% Note due 2021 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
November 6, 2018)

4.17 Form of 4.5% Note due 2028 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
November 6, 2018)

4.18 Description of Securities (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.18 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2019)

31.01 * Rule 13a – 14(a) Certification by Mark J. Costa, Chief Executive Officer, for the quarter ended June 30, 2020

31.02 * Rule 13a – 14(a) Certification by William T. McLain, Jr., Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, for the quarter ended
June 30, 2020

32.01 * Section 1350 Certification by Mark J. Costa, Chief Executive Officer, for the quarter ended June 30, 2020

32.02 * Section 1350 Certification by William T. McLain, Jr., Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, for the quarter ended June
30, 2020

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

101.SCH * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF * Inline XBRL Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB * Inline XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE * Inline XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

* Denotes exhibit filed or furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

Eastman Chemical Company

Date: August 5, 2020 By: /s/ William T. McLain, Jr.
William T. McLain, Jr.
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 31.01

EASTMAN CHEMICAL COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

Rule 13a - 14(a)/15d - 14(a) Certifications

I, Mark J. Costa, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Eastman Chemical Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting. 

Date:  August 5, 2020
 
/s/ Mark J. Costa
Mark J. Costa
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.02

EASTMAN CHEMICAL COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
 

Rule 13a - 14(a)/15d - 14(a) Certifications
 
I, William T. McLain, Jr., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Eastman Chemical Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting. 

Date:  August 5, 2020
 
/s/ William T. McLain, Jr.
William T. McLain, Jr.
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.01

EASTMAN CHEMICAL COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

Section 1350 Certifications

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Eastman Chemical Company (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2020, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to such officer's knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of
the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Eastman Chemical Company and will be retained by Eastman
Chemical Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 

Date:  August 5, 2020

/s/ Mark J. Costa
Mark J. Costa
Chief Executive Officer

 
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure
document.



Exhibit 32.02

EASTMAN CHEMICAL COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

Section 1350 Certifications

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Eastman Chemical Company (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2020, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to such officer's knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of
the dates and for the periods expressed in the Report.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Eastman Chemical Company and will be retained by Eastman
Chemical Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

 
Date:  August 5, 2020

/s/ William T. McLain, Jr.
William T. McLain, Jr.
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

 
The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure
document.


